

No.22-WO

The Politics of Political Conditionality: How the EU Is Failing the Western Balkans

Pim W.R.Oudejans

Published: Jan 2023

ISSN 1470-2320

Department of International DevelopmentLondon School of Economics and Political ScienceHoughton StreetTel: +44 (020) 7955 7425/6252LondonFax: +44 (020) 7955-6844WC2A 2AE UKEmail: d.daley@lse.ac.uk

Website: http://www.lse.ac.uk/internationalDevelopment/home.aspx

Abstract

The EU conditions third-party countries wanting to join to comprehensive political reforms beneficial to development. Six current aspirants (Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Montenegro, North Macedonia, Kosovo, and Serbia) are progressing slowly in their bids to join. This study examines the reason why. Using process tracing, it is demonstrated these slow accessions are best explained by European political ambiguity, which has disincentivised the Western Balkan governments to implement reforms. This has more explanatory value than geopolitical interference or autocratic-minded leaders in the region. The study reaffirms the importance of understanding the politics behind incentives-based political conditionality regimes for generating more effective outcomes.

List of Abbreviations

Acquis	Acquis communautaire - existing EU law			
BiH	Bosnia and Herzegovina			
EU	European Union			
The Commission	European Commission - executive branch of EU			
The Council	European Council - representing member states			
GDP	Gross Domestic Product			
IMF	International Monetary Fund			
NATO	North Atlantic Treaty Organisation			
Parliament	European Parliament			
РМ	Prime Minister			
РТ	Process Tracing			
UK	United Kingdom			
UN	United Nations			
US	United States of America			
WB6	Six non-EU member Western Balkan states			

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	
INTRODUCTION	5
LITERATURE REVIEW	
1. The Politics of Political Conditionality	
2. THE COPENHAGEN CRITERIA	
3. EUROPEAN INTEREST IN THE SIX NON-EU WESTERN BALKAN COUNTRIES	
4. THE PROCESS OF EUROPEAN INTEGRATION	14
EMPIRICAL RESEARCH	
Methodology	16
Process-Tracing	
Data Collection	
THREE RIVAL THEORIES ON EU ACCESSIONS	
T1. Geopolitics	
T2. Stabilitocracy	
T3. EU Politics	
Findings	
DISCUSSION	
CONCLUSION	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	
ANNEXES	55
ANNEX 1: INDEXED 2021 COMMISSION ASSESSMENT REPORTS	
ANNEX 2: PROGRESSION FOR EACH WB6 COUNTRY, SUBDIVIDED INTO CHAPTERS	61
Methodology	
Serbia	
Montenegro	
Albania	
North Macedonia	
Kosovo	
Bosnia and Herzegovina	

The Politics of Political Conditionality: How the EU Is Failing the Western Balkans

Introduction

Twenty years ago, all countries in the Western Balkan region of South-East Europe were promised "unequivocal support" for European Union ("EU") membership (European Council, 2003). Today, however, only Croatia has successfully entered the EU (in 2013). European enlargement to the remaining Western Balkan countries is progressing slowly. Out of the six non-EU members in the region, i.e., Albania, Bosnia and Herzegovina ("BiH"), Montenegro, North Macedonia, Kosovo^{*}, and Serbia (collectively the "WB6"), only Serbia and Montenegro are currently in open negotiations with the EU. Whilst in 2018 the European Commission ("the Commission") still had a target date for a Western Balkan enlargement in 2025 (European Commission, 2018), Slovenia's attempts in 2021 to set another for 2030 were rejected by other member states (Fleming and Foy, 2021).

Meanwhile, there is evidence from previous enlargements to Central and Eastern Europe that, if done well (Narula and Bellak, 2009, 2011), "accession" to the EU (in EU jargon) could benefit development in the WB6 substantially. In economic terms, the World Bank has praised the EU for being a "convergence machine", helping poorer member states catch up with richer states in areas such as productivity, income levels, and gross domestic product ("GDP") (Gill and Raiser, 2011, pp. 71–86), often with the largest improvements for the least well-off (Goedemé and Collado, 2016).

EU membership also has non-economic benefits. For instance, Konya and Guisan (2008) find that when countries join the EU, and just before, their human development indicators increase significantly and gradually converge towards the EU average. Moreover, EU enlargements have generally generated a "democracy dividend", helping to build and strengthen democracy in countries that were previously under autocratic rule (Sadurski, 2004), providing citizens with several freedoms and liberties (Sen, 1999). Admittedly, this does not guarantee backsliding

^{*} Kosovo declared itself independent from Serbia in 2008 but is not universally recognised as such. Notably, five EU countries have not recognised Kosovo as an independent state: Cyprus, Greece, Slovakia, Spain, and Romania.

since the Polish and Hungarian governments have recently reversed some of the progress (Holesch and Kyriazi, 2022). Finally, a future EU accession may also contribute to more sustainable peace in the conflict-ridden Balkans region (Ağır, Arman and Akçay, 2019; Petrovic and Wilson, 2021; Smith, Markovic Khaze and Kovacevic, 2021), as well as promote stronger minority protections (Sasse, 2008).

What is more, public opinion polls show convincing support for joining the EU. In most WB6 countries, public support is estimated to be around 80% or higher (Center for Insights in Survey Research, 2020; EFB, 2020). Even in Serbia, which generally demonstrates lower support in opinion polls (around 50%), a theoretical vote on EU accession would win consistently from 2009 onwards, with an average margin of about 20 percentage points (Serbian Ministry of European Integration, 2019).

Before a country can join the EU, it must meet the Copenhagen Criteria, a list of political conditionalities agreed upon at a 1993 European Council ("the Council") summit. First, candidate countries must harmonise their legal framework with the *acquis communautaire* ("*acquis*"), the collection of existing EU laws and policies. Second, they must meet the Union's democratic standards (European Commission, 2017).

The WB6 are making little to no progress on either criterion. First, the adoption of the *acquis* is progressing slowly. The two Western Balkan countries currently in open negotiations, Serbia and Montenegro, have closed only 2 out of 34 and 3 out of 33 chapters, respectively (European Commission, 2021c, 2021d). Second, the WB6 have shown considerable democratic backsliding. In the whole region, media has been increasingly put under state control, corruption is widespread and structures of clientelism persist or are exacerbated (Kmezić, 2020; Centre for Media Pluralism and Freedom, 2022). Whilst Serbia and Montenegro were previously classified as "free" by Freedom House, since 2019 all the WB6 are classified as "partly free", a form of government between autocracy and democracy (see Figure 1). Moreover, since the first WB6 country North Macedonia officially applied for EU membership in 2004, the democratic indicators of all the WB6 countries except for Kosovo have either stagnated or deteriorated (see Figure 2).



Figure 2: The average Freedom House indicators (Political Rights and Civil Liberties) for the WB6 from 2004 until 2022. Lower scores indicate a stronger democracy. Countries are classified "Free" from 2.5 and lower. Since 2019, all WB6 are classified as "Partly Free". Note: Serbia and Montenegro were one country until 2006 and first data from Kosovo is from 2010.



Figure 1: The change in average Freedom House indicators (Political Rights and Civil Liberties) for the WB6 from 2004 until 2022, compared to scores in 2004. A negative score indicates democratic improvement. Kosovo is the only country that improved its democracy score in the long run. Note: Serbia and Montenegro were one country until 2006 and first data from Kosovo is from 2010.

This presents a puzzle. If popular support is high and Croatia was able to start its application and meet all the criteria in 10 years, why have the WB6 made so little progress? Why have the countries become more autocratic, moving away from the *acquis*?

I propose that the solution lies in the often-overlooked politics of political conditionality. With each new stage of negotiations, and before any country can join the EU, all current member states must agree unanimously, making EU enlargements inherently political (European Commission, no date b; Grabbe, 2002).

I argue that at critical moments, politics at the EU level and the resulting ambiguous enlargement policy played a decisive role in the failure of the WB6 to implement reforms, which would bring them closer to EU accession, but be beneficial to development outcomes as well. Using the methodological tool of process tracing, I demonstrate this better explains the WB6's slow accessions than theories emphasising geopolitical power struggles or autocratic leaders cementing their rule through ostensible stability promotion.

This question matters because within the world's political conditionality regimes, the EU's Copenhagen Criteria are both the most comprehensive, targeting virtually all areas of governance, as well as probably the most powerful in terms of possible development outcomes (Koch, 2015). Beyond merely a sounder theoretical framework of these conditionalities, a

better understanding of the political mechanisms behind it could have tangible implications for the WB6's development, and (possible) EU candidates, including Ukraine, Moldova, Georgia, or even Turkey. Moreover, given the abundant use of conditionalities in the international development sector (see the first part of the literature review), the study can also help to assess the potential of such policy tools for actors other than the EU (Molenaers, Dellepiane and Faust, 2015).

Before proceeding, it is important to note that the paper is limited in two key ways. First, although the WB6 are comprised of different countries with distinct cultural, political and socio-economic contexts, they will be considered together. This is also how they are primarily regarded by the EU (European Commission, 2021a) and it allows for a broader argument on region-wide developments. The specificities of each of the countries are nevertheless acknowledged throughout. Second, although the possible future accessions are significant for both the WB6 and the EU, the paper limits itself to development outcomes for the former.

The remainder of the paper is structured as follows. First, in a literature review, political conditionality, the WB6, and their accession trajectories are discussed and contextualised. Then, an empirical study is presented where three rival theories for the slow accessions are discussed and held to evidence. The paper finishes with a conclusion.

Literature Review

The literature review starts with a broad conceptualisation of current political conditionality regimes. This is then specified to the stringent conditionality regime the EU uses for its enlargements, the Copenhagen Criteria. Third, the particularities of the WB6 as a region, as well as of the internal countries are outlined in more depth. Finally, the debate is extended to the practical mechanisms of European integration.

1. The Politics of Political Conditionality

This section of the literature review first discusses political conditionality regimes and how they are politicised. Then, it is demonstrated how European conditionality is situated amongst them. Political conditionality is a form of governance that gained traction with the rise of the "new international order" after the Cold War, reflecting a reconsideration of multilateral relations (Baylies, 1995). Narrowly defined, it constitutes an "instrument - the withholding of development assistance, or the threat thereof - that states employ to bring other states' governments to modify their behavior" (Uvin and Biagiotti, 1996, p. 377). A broader conceptualisation of political conditionality includes "granting benefits to a country subject to the beneficiary meeting certain conditions" (Kishore, 2017, p. 105) or a mechanism to impose policy reforms on a polity that it would otherwise not have chosen (Koeberle *et al.*, 2005, p. 237; Borchert *et al.*, 2018, p. 1). The political conditions can require ad-hoc political and economic reform programmes, or more long-term rule transfers from one polity to the other (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2004). Sometimes, a country's aid policy is tied to its trade policy, so-called "aid for trade", as Canada's development assistance has long been, for example (Hendra, 1987; Suwa-Eisenmann and Verdier, 2007). Presently, development aid from the Global North is often linked to "good governance" or respecting democracy and human rights (Uvin, 1993; Kale, 2001).

Paradoxically, political conditionality can simultaneously be perceived to undermine democracy. As political conditionality tools are applied to sovereign nations, it can be perceived as a bid from an outside state or international organisation to interfere with the internal affairs of often vulnerable countries (Babb and Carruthers, 2008). Similarly, narrowly defined conditionalities may incentivise governments to ensure compliance with those at the expense of demands from the public (Baylies, 1995). Nevertheless, there is evidence to suggest political conditionality regimes take citizens' interests into account, as well as domestic political opposition (Mayer and Mourmouras, 2004; Stone, 2008).

The literature on political conditionality policies aside from the EU mainly focusses on the domains of monetary support and development aid. The first is primarily embodied by the International Monetary Fund ("IMF") which is known to condition desperately needed loans on austere policy changes (Kentikelenis, Stubbs and King, 2016). The second, development assistance, is provided by actors ranging from donor countries to international organisations such as the World Bank. It may be stopped, ex-post or ex-ante, if a country violates its conditionalities (Uvin and Biagiotti, 1996; Baehr, 1997; Koch, 2015).

Even though conditionality regimes are ostensibly bureaucratic and procedural, their implementation is almost always political. For instance, Dreher, Sturm and Vreeland (2015) find that United Nations ("UN") Security Council members receive around 30% fewer conditions from the IMF. Furthermore, countries that are allied to the United States ("US") have been found to obtain larger loans that often have less strict conditionalities attached (Oatley and Yackee, 2004; Stone, 2008; Kilby, 2009). In fact, there is copious evidence supporting that the US has habitually used both organisations to further its foreign policy goals (e.g. Woods, 2003; Andersen, Hansen and Markussen, 2006; Andersen, Harr and Tarp, 2006; Fleck and Kilby, 2006).

The EU stands out internationally because it uses political conditionality in most foreign policy, including beyond development assistance (Koch, 2015). This is especially true since the Treaty of Lisbon (2007) came into effect in 2009 and the EU obliged itself by law to include what it calls "values of the Union" such as human rights, democracy, and rule of law in its External Action (foreign affairs) policies. For instance, recent trade agreements with Singapore, Vietnam and Mexico were stalled numerous times because of human rights concerns, instigated especially by the European Parliament ("the Parliament") (Szymanski and Smith, 2005; Sicurelli, 2015; Mckenzie and Meissner, 2017). On the other hand, the EU has shown it can waiver these human rights conditionalities when politically or economically opportune, as exemplified by the endorsement by the European Council in 2020 for the proposed Comprehensive Agreement on Investment with China, which was stalled only later by Parliament (Ankersmit, 2021).

2. The Copenhagen Criteria

Within the EU's repertoire of conditionality regimes also features one of the most stringent and comprehensive in the world: the Copenhagen Criteria, required for EU accession. One part relates to the same conditions used in its relation to third-party countries, i.e., the democracy and human rights requirements. Another is perhaps more demanding and relates to the ability of a government to function within the Union (the *acquis communautaire*) and "cope with competitive pressure and market forces" through an efficient market economy (European Council, 1993, pt. A). Like other political conditionality regimes, it is explicitly political, for all member states must agree unanimously to allow a country to enter the Union. Indeed, few countries have met all the conditionalities before accession (Rezler, 2011).

As the most studied political conditionality regime, there is substantial literature on how the Copenhagen Criteria influence states to comply with its conditions. Unlike the IMF where there are few alternatives to compliance in return for financial support, most authors agree that governments wanting to join the EU make cost-benefit analyses based on incentives set by the EU (e.g., Smith, 1998; Hughes, Sasse and Gordon, 2004; Grabbe, 2005; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2008; Gateva, 2013, 2015; Zhelyazkova et al., 2019). Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier (2004, 2020) make a helpful distinction between incentives based on rewards, determinacy, costs, and credibility. Rewards include access to the EU's internal market, influencing their neighbours' policies through EU voting rights, and larger financial assistance, to name a few. Determinacy shapes the clarity of the requirements for accession: "the more clearly the EU signals that conditions are sine qua non, the more likely target governments are to prioritize and meet them" (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2020, p. 817). Next, costs to accession are country-specific and may be influenced by state capacity and domestic politics. Finally, credibility constitutes both the time between the EU's promise and delivery of the Rewards, and the threat of withholding them if the conditions are not met. The credibility of threat becomes greater as the (political) benefits of enlargement for the EU become smaller. Credibility also increases with the EU's consistency in applying conditionality.

Finally, the EU also leverages possible EU enlargements to obtain geopolitical power in neighbouring countries. One of the *acquis* requirements for a candidate country is "to progressively align its policies towards third countries and its positions within international organisations with the policies and positions adopted by the Union and its Member States" (European Commission, no date a, chap. 30). Consequently, four of the WB6, i.e., Albania, BiH, Montenegro and North Macedonia, have currently aligned themselves with all EU sanctions against the Russian Federation, whilst Kosovo has implemented most and Serbia has implemented some (Ivković, 2022). Olli Rehn (2007), then EU Commissioner for Enlargement, in a speech made explicit the Union's use of enlargements as an instrument of soft power, arguing the Union has a "strategic bargain of accession" (p. 3). Indeed, the EU's conditionalities for accession are considered one of the Union's most effective foreign policy tools (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2004; Trauner, 2009; Wolczuk, 2009). Similarly, the recent developments to officially recognise Ukraine and Moldova as future membership candidates (as well as Georgia as a "potential candidate"), can be seen as a strategy to keep them inside the EU's sphere of influence (Kakachia and Lebanidze, 2022; Tidey, 2022).

DV410

3. European Interest in the Six Non-EU Western Balkan Countries

Before moving on to how political conditionality is operationalised in the WB6, this section goes into more depth on why the EU imposes these conditionalities on them in the first place.

First, the Western Balkans as a name for the group of countries discussed in this paper is a term mainly used by the European Union in relation to its possible future enlargement into the region and is not frequently used in the region itself (Scholl, 2018). Whilst part of the region shares a common history, not all countries do. Five of the WB6 were part of Yugoslavia from 1918 until its collapse in the 1990s. BiH, Montenegro, North Macedonia (then Macedonia) and Serbia each constituted a federalised republic within Yugoslavia (together with Slovenia and Croatia), with Kosovo being one of two autonomous regions within Serbia. Albania never formed part of the federation and instead was an independent state.

Large-scale EU involvement in the region commenced with the outbreak of the Yugoslav wars in the 1990s, which ultimately led to the complete disintegration of the federation. With Serbs and Montenegrins, Macedonians, Croats, Bosniaks, ethnic Albanians, and Slovenes fighting amongst each other, the conflict had a decisively ethnic character. It also featured the first internationally recognised genocide on European soil since the Second World War, the Srebrenica Massacre of 1995 in BiH (ICTY, 2004; ICJ, 2007). In 1997, near civil war also broke out in Albania following the collapse of numerous pyramid schemes worth half the country's GDP (Jarvis, 2000). The conflicts in former Yugoslavia and Albania came to an end mainly because of involvement by the UN and military intervention led by the North Atlantic Treaty Organisation ("NATO") (Mema, 1998; Roberts, 1999). The EU intervened through diplomacy and economic sanctions, albeit with little deterrent effect on the belligerents (Landry, 1999; Wouters and Naert, 2001).

Whilst military hostilities between the WB6 have since seized, the EU remains concerned with the region's (in)stability. BiH, for instance, has effectively been under European tutelage since the end of the war. The European Court of Human Rights selects three of nine supreme court justices. Additionally, the country still has a special High Representative, to date always an EU citizen, who has veto rights in most political decisions, the so-called "Bonn Powers" (Banning, 2014; Dijkstra and Raadschelders, 2022). There is also regular diplomatic conflict among the WB6, which remain divided along religious, linguistic and ethnic lines (Bugarski, 2012;

Ronelle, 2013). A common source of disputes is Kosovo, which Serbia considers part of its territory, and which BiH, due to a veto by its Serbian community (Republika Srpska), also does not recognise as a sovereign state (N1 Sarajevo, 2020). Tensions between Kosovo and Serbia recurrently peak, such as in 2021 when Kosovo required cars from Serbia to replace their licence plate with a Kosovar one, leading ethnic Serbs to block two border crossings for weeks (Isufi and Stojanovic, 2021). Despite European efforts to normalise relations (Beysoylu, 2018), an important element of Serbia's foreign policy is to limit international recognition of Kosovo as much as possible, blocking Kosovo's membership bids to the UN and the Council of Europe, amongst others (Efevwerhan, 1999; Stojanovic, 2022; Sufi, 2022).

The EU also plays a critical indirect role in the WB6, primarily because of its economic importance in the region. Each WB6 country has significantly more trade relations with the EU than with each other (European Council, 2018). Moreover, economic relations are unbalanced, with the WB6 being dependent on the EU for trade (67.7% of trade is with the EU), remittances (4-15% of GDP, mainly from Europe) and foreign direct investment (40-113% of GDP, also mainly from Europe) (Fruchter, 2018; European Commission, 2020b). Finally, four of the WB6 are directly dependent on European monetary policy, either through unilateral adoption of the euro (Kosovo and Montenegro), or through a peg to it (BiH and North-Macedonia). For these reasons, authors have argued that the WB6 form a dependent "super-periphery" structure around "core" Eurozone and non-Eurozone EU member states (Bartlett, 2009; Bartlett and Prica, 2013, 2016, 2017; Pula, 2014; Rüma, 2014; Beshku, 2021).

Regarding leverage, most authors agree the WB6 do not have many other options but to seek EU membership. Albania, Montenegro and North Macedonia are already aligned with the EU's security architecture as part of NATO, and BiH and Kosovo have recently stated they want to join as well (Gadzo, 2022). Moreover, Bieber and Tzifakis (2019b) argue there is a consensus amongst the WB6 that European integration is the only way forward, with other external actors, including China and Russia, not being able to offer credible development prospects. Serbia may be an exception to the rule, as the government repeatedly rejects NATO membership (Öztürk, 2022) and public support for Russia and the EU is similar (Eror, 2022).

4. The Process of European Integration

In this part of the literature review, the practical and political mechanisms of European integration are briefly discussed, as well as the progress of each WB6 country.

The process of joining the EU consists of several stages and takes years. Typically, a prospective member state first signs an association agreement with the EU to "establish close economic and political cooperation (more than simple cooperation)" (EU External Action Service, 2011, p. 1). After a formal request of a country to join, the Commission writes an opinion on the country's preparedness. If the Council, representing the governments of the member states, agrees (by unanimity) to grant the country candidate status, the Commission starts a screening process, assessing where and to what extent the country's legal framework must be amended. This lays the groundwork for negotiations between the EU and the candidate country, divided into 35 chapters, which essentially consist of the candidate country convincing the EU it has made enough progress or asking for exceptions (Nicolaides, 1998). The Commission reports the progress within these chapters annually for each country. For a summary of the latest reports, see Annex 1.

In the literature, this process of taking on the *acquis* and thus gradually joining the EU is often dubbed "Europeanisation". This can be understood as the export of European forms of governance outside its borders, either through conditionality or through some other means of influence. Alternatively, it may refer to the increasing role the EU plays in domestic policymaking, or the EU's ability to diffuse its norms and values across Europe and elsewhere (e.g., Ladrech, 1994; Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2008; Flockhart, 2010). Due to the ambiguity around the term's employment (Buller and Gamble, 2002), Europeanisation will not be referred to hereafter.

Next, it is to be noted that accessions for the WB6 are more demanding than previous enlargements. First, in a set of additional requirements, often called the "Copenhagen Plus Criteria", the WB6 must agree to cooperate fully with the International Court-Tribunal on Yugoslavia and resolve bilateral disputes (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2004, p. 10; Bieber and Kmezić, 2014, pp. 7–8; European Commission, 2021e). Moreover, Serbia is currently the only candidate country that must complete the 35th chapter on "other issues", requiring it to normalise its relations with Kosovo, which, when it starts negotiations, is also expected to

complete it. Finally, in 2020, the Commission proposed a new "accession methodology", clustering chapters into six themes, making fundamental reforms for democracy more important, and providing "greater clarity on what the EU expects of enlargement countries at the different stages of the process", amongst others (European Commission, 2020a, p. 1).

None of the WB6 have progressed significantly in their bids for EU membership. Currently, only Serbia and Montenegro are in open negotiations with the EU, with few chapters closed (see Annex 1). In 2020, it was announced that the EU would also start negotiations with Albania and North Macedonia, but they, until recently, have been stalled by Bulgaria over a historical dispute with North Macedonia (Marusic, 2022a). What is more, BiH applied for candidate status in 2016. However, the Commission's subsequent opinion noted that BiH is "at an early stage regarding its level of preparedness to take on the obligations of EU membership" (p. 14), and advised against granting candidacy status, leaving open the possibility of later candidacy status (European Commission, 2019). Moreover, Kosovo has not yet submitted a membership application but is expected to do so soon, possibly by the end of 2022 (Ker-Lindsay and Economides, 2012; Taylor, 2022). See Figure 3 for a quantified representation of the Commission's (arguably subjective) assessment of the adoption of the *acquis* over time.



Figure 3: The quantified average for each of the Commission's assessments on accession negotiation chapters for the WB6 from 2010 until 2021. From 0 "totally incompatible" to 7 "well prepared/advanced". Since 2015, most countries have not made much progress in their adoption of the acquis. Note: In 2017, the Commission did not publish any reports. In 2011, the Commission did not report for Serbia. Data for Montenegro and North Macedonia available from 2011, Albania from 2015, Kosovo from 2018 and BiH from 2019. Source: The European Commission individual country reports. For the individual progression graphs of each of the WB6 divided into chapters and the methodology, see Annex 2.

Finally, recently Albania, North Macedonia and Serbia announced the launch of a regional cooperation protocol under the name of Open Balkan, aiming to emulate parts of the EU in creating a single common market with free circulation of people, goods, services and capital (Bami, 2022). According to the countries' leaders, it "is not a consolation prize in place of an EU membership" but "a big step towards membership" (Rama, Vučić and Zaev, 2021, translated from German by author). However, although the newly elected Montenegrin government is considering Open Balkan membership, the initiative has been criticised by the other WB6 and some EU member states, notably Germany, who fear it may distract from EU integration (Bami, 2022; Marusic, 2022b).

Empirical Research

The rest of the paper consists of an empirical study, exploring the causal mechanisms behind the weakening credibility of the EU towards the WB6, and thus the sluggish adoption of the *acquis*. Using the methodical tool of process-tracing, it is argued that amongst three dominant theories, the one emphasising internal politics within the EU has the best explanatory value.

In the succeeding sections, the study is developed first through a discussion of the methodology. Then, the three relevant theories are discussed consecutively, before presenting and discussing the evidence for each.

Methodology

The following methodology part is subdivided further into two segments. First, the methodological tool of process tracing is discussed after which the methodology of data collection is briefly addressed.

Process-Tracing

This paper uses a qualitative research technique called process-tracing ("PT"). In brief, it helps to make causal claims by finding linkages between outcomes and possible causes. Using formal tests of evidence within the proposed chain of causal mechanisms, PT has been used to provide explanations that link "social and institutional structure and context with individual agency and decision-making" (Bennett and Checkel, 2014, p. 3). It does so by linking "preexisting generalizations with specific observations from within a single case to make causal inferences

about that case" (Mahoney, 2012, p. 570). PT is increasingly argued to utilise a Bayesian logic of inference, whereby each theory's probability is updated after every new piece of evidence (Bennett, 2009; Fairfield and Charman, 2015).

The choice for within-case casual analysis results from the fact that the last time more than two countries joined the EU was 18 years ago. Hence, this allows for a consideration of the more recent theoretical proposals, whilst similarly exploiting the differences amongst the WB6. In addition, PT has notably already been used to explain historical patterns of EU institutional integration (Moravcsik, 1998; Schimmelfennig, 2014).

As a research method that seeks to make causal claims, PT focusses on developments over time and, unlike quantitative research methods, cannot accurately describe an event at one point in time. However, it helps to highlight the steps along the way (causal inference) whilst also giving more contextual information (descriptive inference) (Collier, 2011). Practically, the technique uses the analysis of various "intermediate steps in a process to make inferences about hypotheses on how that process took place and whether and how it generated the outcome of interest" (Bennett and Checkel, 2014, p. 6).

Crucially, PT necessitates a pre-conceived hypothesis of how events are connected, as well as at least one cohesive rival theory that can explain an alternative, counterfactual causal chain of events, which must be scrutinised along each link in the chain to assess its causal validity (White and Phillips, 2012, pp. 40–42; Bennett and Checkel, 2014). These theories can be conceived for the research or already exist. This paper uses the second, deductive approach, comparing three priorly conceived theories.

Van Evera (1997, pp. 31–32) specifies four types of evidence that test for causation. They have been adapted and categorised by Bennett (2010, p. 210) and Collier (2011, p. 825) in a 2-by-2 matrix according to whether they are *sufficient* or *necessary* to establish causation, as replicated in Table 1. If X is *necessary* for Y, the former is causally linked to the latter so that Y is impossible without X. If X is *sufficient* for Y, X leads to Y, but the latter can exist without the former. Hence, in this case, different causal mechanisms may lead to Y, X being one of them. Consequently, successful *Straw-in-the-Wind* tests only slightly weaken rival theories, *Hoop* tests do so somewhat, a *Smoking Gun* substantially weakens them and a *Doubly Decisive*

eliminates them (Bennet, 2010). Double Decisive tests are rare in social science, and most process tracing is founded on *Hoop* and *Smoking Gun* tests (Mahoney, 2012).

The classifications come with some caveats. First, the distinction between the tests is not always as rigid as the table suggests. For instance, sometimes a *Straw-in-the-Wind* test may instead be treated as a lead towards a *Hoop* or *Smoking Gun* test (Collier, 2011, p. 825). Moreover, some difficult *Hoop* tests may provide more decisive evidence for a hypothesis than an easy *Smoking Gun* (Mahoney, 2012, pp. 572–573). Thus, Collier (2011) argues, "the decision to treat a given piece of evidence as the basis for one of the four tests can depend on the researcher's prior knowledge, the assumptions that underlie the study, and the specific formulation of the hypothesis" (p. 825).

	Sufficiency						
			No	Yes			
		Straw-in-the-Wind		Smoking Gun			
	No	Passing:	Affirms relevance of hypothesis but does not confirm it.	Passing:	Confirms hypothesis.		
Necessity		Failing:	Hypothesis may not be relevant but is not eliminated.	Failing:	Hypothesis is not eliminated but is somewhat weakened.		
		Ноор		Double Decisive			
	Yes	Passing:	Affirms relevance of hypothesis but does not confirm it.	Passing:	Confirms hypothesis and eliminates others.		
		Failing:	Eliminates hypothesis.	Failing:	Eliminates hypothesis.		

Table 1: Bennett's (2010, p. 210) adaptation of Collier's (2011, p. 825) table categorising four types of evidence used to inform analyses based on process tracing.

Data Collection

Process-tracing does not come with a standard methodology of data collection. In fact, most authors reject a clearly delineated dataset of independent units of analysis, due to the "noncomparability of adjacent pieces of evidence" (Gerring, 2016, p. 160) that are used in process-tracing (Beach and Pedersen, 2013, pp. 72–76; Schimmelfennig, 2014, p. 6). Bennet

and Checkel (2014) advise to "be relentless in gathering diverse and relevant evidence" (p. 21). Schimmelfennig (2014) adds to this that it should nevertheless be limited "to the evidence that is needed to discriminate between competing theories" (p. 10).

Since there are few formal limitations on what data to collect, the selection of evidence becomes more important. Evidence of the *Straw-in-the-Wind* type is naturally more abundant, so it is crucial to remain cognisant of how much the presented evidence contributes to the larger causal claim, "lest we be left building our evidentiary house with a pile of straw" (Ricks and Liu, 2018, p. 845). Similarly, one must be "equally tough on the alternative explanations", "be open to inductive insights" (Bennett and Checkel, 2014, p. 21) and reject them when possible.

Due to the limited scope of the research, only publicly available secondary data is used. These include news articles, government communiqués, interviews with journalists, and academic reports. Moreover, all data sources will be in English. This poses a limitation to the study, since it excludes native language information that WB6 politicians may be communicating to their own populations. However, since all three studies focus on WB6 interaction with the EU (in English), it is not expected to affect the selection of relevant evidence significantly.

A "theoretical starting point" (Collier, 2011, p. 824) constitutes the annual WB6-EU summits of the Berlin and Brdo-Brijuni Processes and the press releases and political interviews around them. Other recurrent events of importance include the Commission's annual "State of the Union" and individual country reports.

Three Rival Theories on EU Accessions

The literature broadly distinguishes three theories on why the enlargement to the WB6 is moving slowly. All start from the observation that there is considerable democratic backsliding in the region and that the *acquis* is implemented slowly (see Introduction and Figure 3).

The reasons for the diminishing effectiveness of the EU's conditionality regime, however, are understood to come from different sources, and can be summarised as follows:

- T1. Geopolitical rivals to the EU.
- T2. "Stabilitocratic" leaders cementing their rule.

T3. Internal EU politics.

These three theories constitute the foundation of the empirical research, where they will be scrutinised for their causal explanatory value. In the following section, they are discussed and compared.

Before proceeding, however, it must be noted that the contrasts between the three theories, albeit distinct, are not entirely mutually exclusive. Similarly, since all three theories are backed by substantive literature, this research, rather than establishing one theory as the truth and eliminating the others, seeks to illuminate which available theory *best* explains the discussed developments (Fairfield and Charman, 2015).

<u>T1. Geopolitics</u>

First, in a geopolitical understanding of the WB6's slow progression in adopting the *acquis*, rivalling powers are seen to actively counteract EU conditionalities in the region. It emerged as a cohesive theory in the late 2010s as a reaction to China's and Russia's increased assertiveness, circulating predominantly in European think tanks and institutions (Pavlićević, 2019; Secrieru and Analyst, 2019). It understands the Western Balkans as a region of zero-sum power struggles and ideological challenges, and sees democratic backsliding and slow adoption of the *acquis* as a result of those, as stylised in Figure 4 (Pavlićević, 2019, p. 465; Anđelić, 2020).



Figure 4: A highly stylised schematisation of the causal mechanisms of Theory 1. Arrows represent a hypothesised causal relationship. Made by the author.

Through this lens, EU enlargements occur when geopolitically opportune. For instance, the EU's "Big Bang" enlargement of 2004 is understood to be part of Europe's response to the end of the Cold War, rapidly bringing in ten countries formerly in Russia's sphere of influence (O'Brennan, 2006). In contrast, the subsequent relatively friendly geopolitical climate meant there was less urgency to enlarge. Consequently, the EU decelerated the WB6 accessions, offering some smaller "carrots", such as visa liberalisation schemes (Fererro-Turrión, 2015).

External actors, mainly China and Russia, are thought to engage with the WB6 for different reasons. Russia has direct interests in moving the WB6 away from the EU, contesting Europe on a security and strategic level by monopolising energy sectors, and exerting cultural and political influence over Serb communities in Serbia, BiH and Montenegro (Konitzer, 2011; Bieri, 2015; Tomovic, 2019; Stojkovski, 2020; Đordević, Turcsányi and Vučković, 2021). In contrast, for China, its commercial approach to the region means WB6 EU membership would facilitate trade through the Belt and Road initiative with the rest of Europe, and provide opportunities for political gain within the Union's decision-making through its sway over the WB6 (Makocki, 2017; Markovic Khaze and Wang, 2021).

However, although China may not deliberately seek to jeopardise WB6 accessions, its investments in the region come with their own conditionalities and political spill-overs. For instance, after an agreement with the Chinese government, the Serbian, Albanian and Bosnian counterparts relaxed their visa requirements for Chinese citizens, which has made them move away from the European *acquis* (Markovic Khaze and Wang, 2021, p. 244). Moreover, Chinese investments in the region have frequently come with charges of corruption, which go against European transparency requirements in public tenders (Makochi and Nechev, 2017; Larsen, 2020). The country is also accused of "debt-trapping" Montenegro, which owes about half of its state debt to China (Stojkovski *et al.*, 2021; Shopov, 2022). Lastly, the installation of a Chinese-aided mass surveillance system in Belgrade violates European privacy standards (Zweers *et al.*, 2020, p. 29).

Finally, both Russia and China have invested in symbolic influence in the region. For instance, high officials from both countries frequently visit the region, and both provided the WB6 with COVID-19 vaccines before the EU did, albeit in lower numbers and with less efficacious types (BIRN, no date; Bieber and Tzifakis, 2019a; Đordević, Turcsányi and Vučković, 2021; Tzifakis, 2021). Surveys demonstrate the success of these heavily mediatised investments. In Serbia, public opinion polls suggest that whilst most believe the EU to be the most significant donor (30-40%), a considerable number of people think it to be China (around 30%) or Russia (10-15%) (Institute for European Affairs, 2021; Serbian Ministry of European Integration, 2021). This is despite the EU being by far the largest donor (Hartwell and Sidlo, 2017; Delegation of the EU to Serbia, 2020). Another poll shows similar, albeit less extreme, trends in the rest of the WB6 (Center for Insights in Survey Research, 2020).

T2. Stabilitocracy

The second theory on the sluggish WB6 accessions can be summarised in the term "Stabilitocracy". Initially coined by Srđa Pavlović (2016) in disapproval of the EU's endorsement of Montenegrin prime minister ("PM") Đukanović, the designation has been picked up by various authors to describe "a regime that includes considerable shortcomings in terms of democratic governance, yet enjoys external legitimacy by offering some supposed stability" (Bieber, 2017). The term can be used simultaneously to label a regime-type, as a hybrid form between democracy and autocracy (Andjelic, 2022), and as the practice of providing "external support to regimes that include considerable shortcomings in terms of democratic governance for the sake of the (false) promise of stability" (Bieber and Kmezić,

2017, p. 10). The Stabilitocracy theory thus understands the slow WB6 accessions as a result of an interplay between WB6 leaders that seek to stay in power through autocratic means, and the EU that facilitates them to do so in the short-term interest of preventing conflict in the region (Gafuri and Muftuler-Bac, 2021; Smith, Markovic Khaze and Kovacevic, 2021).

Importantly, these crises are often ungrounded in actual conflicts but are allowed or even fabricated by the WB6 leaders to regain their external legitimacy as crisis managers. According to Bieber (2018), there are three types of exploitable crises. First, threats against the government can be used to characterise the opposition as enemies, examples of which include the alleged coup attempts in Serbia (2015) and Montenegro (2016). Second, leaders may emphasise their ability to suppress ethnic conflict, as during the riots in the Macedonian parliament, which the former PM sought to instrumentalise for his nationalist agenda (Pavlović, 2017; Popovikj, 2017). The third type of crisis relates to bilateral disputes amongst the WB6. A clear example of this strategy is the "train incident", whereby Serbia sent a train to Kosovo with "Kosovo is Serbia" written on it in multiple languages, after which President Vučić stopped the train to defuse the conflict. Therefore, ironically, WB6 stabilitocracies themselves engender instability.

The instability of stabilitocracies is also reflected by the discrepancy between domestic politics and interactions with outside actors (Primatarova and Deimel, 2012, p. 19). Bieber (2015) called it a "dance on the edge of the volcano", since WB6 leaders must convince voters they, like most of the public, want to adopt the *acquis* and make democratic progress, whilst jeopardising both to remain in power. For instance, WB6 leaders have been accused of talking differently about Europe in domestic (native language) media and foreign publications (Tanner, 2015), and have been able to obtain support from parliamentary groupings in the EP despite their autocratic tendencies (Zweers *et al.*, 2022). For a summary of *Theory 2*, see Figure 5.



Figure 5: A highly stylised schematisation of the causal mechanisms of Theory 2. Arrows represent a hypothesised causal relationship. Made by the author.

T3. EU Politics

Whilst the last two theories acknowledge the EU's political influence on the accession conditionalities, they primarily understand the EU as a "black box" single actor that makes rational (albeit arguably short-sighted) decisions, either for their geopolitical interests, or security interests in the region. This third theory, however, focusses on EU politics *per se*, and abandons the idea that the Bloc's external policies always result in outcomes that are most beneficial to its common interests. Therefore, more than the other two theories, it incorporates into its analysis not only politics within the European institutions but also national politics within the member states (Balfour and Stratulat, 2015; Ker-Lindsay *et al.*, 2017).

Rather than seeing European integration and enlargements as separate, students of "Euroscepticism" argue both move concurrently (O'Brennan, 2014). Where the EU is seen to have had momentum around the turn of the century, including during the aforementioned "Big Bang" enlargement, as well as the Maastricht Treaty (Moravcsik, 1998; Emerson *et al.*, 2006), most authors agree the turning point was the Dutch and French rejection of a European Constitution in 2005 (Stefanova, 2006; Startin and Krouwel, 2013). From then on, the

Commission also started incorporating the Union's "integration capacity" into its vocabulary, denoting "whether the EU can take in new members at a given moment or in a given period, without jeopardizing the political and policy objectives established by the Treaties" (European Commission, 2006; Economides, 2020). Following several crises in the 2010s, including the Financial Crisis, Euro Crisis, Immigration Crisis and Brexit, Economides (2020) argues the Union's "enlargement fatigue" has transformed into "enlargement resistance".

This resistance is the result of different attitudes amongst member states. Whereas Germany, Austria, Italy and some neighbouring countries like Greece, Croatia, Slovenia and Hungary generally support WB6 accessions, others, including France, Denmark and the Netherlands have been less supportive (Ker-Lindsay *et al.*, 2017). All three recently blocked the progression of Albania and North Macedonia in accession negotiations (Tidey, Chadwick and Koutsokosta, 2019) and France has repeatedly alluded to (temporary) alternatives to full EU accession for the WB6, articulated most recently in a speech by President Macron in May 2022 (Wunsch, 2017; Economides, 2020; Fejérdy, 2020; Macron, 2022). In light of these internal disagreements, Jean-Claude Juncker promised there would be no EU enlargement during his 2014-2019 presidency of the Commission (European Commission, 2014). Moreover, the increased politicisation of enlargement has also led to more involvement by the Council (Balfour and Stratulat, 2015; Miščević and Mrak, 2017).

Therefore, the slow adoption and democratic backsliding in the WB6 are understood as a reaction to weakening credibility of the EU (Schimmelfennig and Sedelmeier, 2020). With leaders in the WB6 perceiving there to be little chance of accession due to internal issues within the EU, they are tempted to focus on gaining domestic legitimacy, rather than through affiliation with the EU, focussing on short-term political benefits which may involve opposing some reforms (Noutcheva, 2009; Belloni, 2016, p. 538). Consequently, Skara (2020) argues, the EU has gradually lost its normative or "transformative" power in the region. See the stylised mechanisms of causality in Figure 6.



Figure 6: A highly stylised schematisation of the causal mechanisms of Theory 2. Arrows represent a hypothesised causal relationship. Made by the author.

Findings

In the following section, various pieces of evidence are presented that help to make judgements on the explanatory value of the three theories mentioned above, i.e., *Theory 1* on geopolitics, *Theory 2* on Stabilitocracy and *Theory 3* on EU internal politics. In the interest of succinctness and "efficient process tracing" (Schimmelfennig, 2014), any information is excluded that does not fall under Van Evera's (1997, see Table 1) categorisation of evidence, is not decisively distinct from other pieces of evidence, or is already mentioned in the discussion of the theories. Moreover, most pieces of evidence represent but an instance of a broader development, in which case they are marked as such.

For the purposes of descriptive inference, the evidence is broadly organised chronologically. Since Figure 3 suggests most countries started flatlining in terms of adoption of the *acquis* around 2015, the evidence presented will accordingly be delimitated to the period of 2015 to

2019, after which Montenegro makes progress in the negotiation chapters 20 and 21. All pieces are summarised in Table 2 after the presentation of the evidence.

First, at a 2015 summit in Vienna between the WB6 and some EU members, EU High Representative Mogherini praised the PMs of Serbia and Kosovo for their "leadership and courage" as they agreed to some practical arrangements (EU Delegation to Bosnia and Herzegovina, 2015). Whilst undoubtedly important for reconciliation between the two, both sides interpreted the agreement differently, with Kosovo eventually not ratifying some of its conclusions. Some authors have argued the agreements were deliberately ambiguous, lacked transparency and were managed top-down (Beha, 2015; Florian Bieber, 2015). Accordingly, Mogherini's backing of the PMs represents an instance of a relationship of endorsement between the EU and the WB6 leaders. Collectively, this pattern is necessary for the validity of *Theory 2* but not sufficient, thus characterising a successful *Hoop* test.

Also around this time, other countries start taking an interest in the region. For instance, China started making substantial infrastructure investments in the Western Balkans, which Investigative reporting network BIRN (no date) demonstrates are gradually increasing in number and capital from 2013 until 2021. Within a year, Serbian President Nikolić and Chinese counterpart Xi Jinping met in China and Serbia (Chinese Consulate-General to Surabaya, 2015; Sekularac, 2016). Meanwhile, one year after the EU employed sanctions against Russia for its invasion of Ukraine, Serbia's army joined Russia's 9 May Victory Parade in Moscow (Poznatov, 2015). This is an instance of Serbia voluntarily engaging with third-party geopolitical powers, whilst the EU remains apparently inattentive to it. Overall, this constitutes a pattern, at least for Serbia, that is necessary but not sufficient for *Theory 1*, which passes a *Hoop* test.

In 2016, two summits on the WB6 were held; one in Paris through the EU-led Berlin process and one in Sarajevo, through the WB6-led Brdo-Brijuni Process. None of the WB6, except for Albania which implemented some judicial reforms (Mejdini, 2016), made any progress in the negotiation chapters, with notably BiH's administrative communities having been in a gridlock over the implementation of a 2009 European Court of Human Rights decision on its institutional set-up, even after efforts by the United Kingdom ("UK"), Germany and the Council to promise candidateship in return (Jukic, 2014; European Council, 2016). Whilst the summit chaired by France emphasised the rule of law and "good neighbourly relations" ('Paris Declaration', 2016), the Bosnian-chaired summit urged the leaders of the WB6 to "unconditionally refrain from engaging in rhetoric or taking actions that give rise to tensions and risk causing political instability" ('Sarajevo Declaration', 2016). In a follow-up meeting, the WB6 PMs claimed to be "concerned about growing nationalist polarisation", reaffirming their "strong commitment to resolve pending bilateral issues as soon as possible", but to little avail (EU Delegation to Bosnia and Herzegovina, 2017). Due to the emphasis on stability from the WB6-side, consequential though sufficient nor necessary, this presents a successful *Straw-in-the-Wind* test for *Theory 2*.

2016 is also an important year for Europe because the UK in a referendum decided to leave the EU. Although French President Macron and German Chancellor Merkel assured the WB6 that Brexit would not affect their accessions (Melander and Pineau, 2016), a briefing by the European Parliamentary Research Service argued that "keeping in mind the current challenges that the aspirant countries and the EU itself are facing, future enlargement can be expected to be a lengthy process" (Lilyanova and Dietrich, 2016, p. 11). The EU stressing internal issues suggests the validity of *Theory 3*. However, since the authors are not directly responsible for EU accessions, it can be understood as passing only a *Straw-in-the-Wind* test.

In the 2017 WB6-led Brdo-Brijuni summit in Brdo, the leaders in the second paragraph of the declaration firmly assert that "the freedom to choose political and security alignments should remain a sovereign and independent choice of every country. We reiterate the need to refrain from any interferences in matters regarding those decision making [sic] processes which are essentially within the domestic jurisdiction" ('Brdo Declaration', 2017). This is remarkable because it seems to contradict the declaration of the Brdo-Brijuni summit a year earlier in which the countries pledged to "sincerely support and act to enable each other's EU integration process and Euro-Atlantic integration process for NATO aspirants" ('Sarajevo Declaration', 2016). It is also notable since it coincides with the first summit after the alleged Montenegrin coup attempt by Russia. It is likely that the demand for the Brdo statement comes directly from Serbia, which was making multiple arms deals with Russia (Hartwell and Sidlo, 2017, pp. 40–41). With this indication of Russia influencing at least Serbia's accession process, *Theory 1* passes another *Hoop* test.

Next, still in 2017, Kosovar President Hashim Thaçi in an op-ed (2017) criticised the European Commission's decision not to allow further enlargements before 2019, arguing it came out of

fear of "xenophobic sentiments mixed with enlargement fatigue at home". He continued stating that "while everyone familiar with the policy knew that an enlargement by 2019 was unlikely, the EU's explicit policy had devastating effects on the region in terms of undermining reform efforts", adding that the perceived "need to launch the Berlin process for the 'Western Balkans 6', trying to keep the EU perspective alive despite the Commission's statements, is very telling." A week later, Thaçi would call for Kosovar citizens to obtain Albanian passports, circumventing the EU's strict visa liberalisation conditionalities (Gotev, 2017). Despite meeting all its 95 conditions (compared to around 50 for the other WB6) a year later (EU External Action, 2018), Kosovo to date has no visa-free access to the EU. With Thaçi clearly stating that EU politics undermine accessions, this is strong evidence for *Theory 3*. However, since he is only in the leadership of one of the WB6, and not solely responsible for adopting the *acquis*, it represents some sufficiency but no necessity. As such, it can be characterised as a successful *Smoking Gun* test for *Theory 3*.

Finally, 2017 was also a year in which the Serbia-Kosovo conflict reached a high point, including the train incident mentioned above and the arrest of former Kosovar PM Ramush Haradinaj in France following a Serbian arrest warrant through Interpol (who was quickly released thereafter). Despite diplomatic intervention by the EU (on Kosovo's request), initiating and mediating talks between the two sides, the Bloc's role was relatively unimportant. So much so that President Thaçi called the EU's "silence" on the issue "alarming", and "showing no leadership" (DW, 2017), whilst another Kosovar "senior official" accused the EU of "sitting on their hands" (Salem, 2017). The European hands-off approach contradicts *Theory 2*'s central premise that the EU endorses WB6 leaders for the sake of stability, at least when it comes to Serbia and Kosovo. Hence, *Theory 2* fails a *Hoop* test, albeit partially because only decisively so for Kosovo and Serbia.

In 2018, President Macron increasingly voiced concern over a future WB6 enlargement. Following his criticism over opening negotiations with Albania and North Macedonia (Radosavljevic and Morgan, 2018), the Commission stated that "while the EU *could* become larger than 27 members", it would be "based on [the WB6's] own merits and at their own speed depending on the concrete results achieved" (European Commission, 2018, emphasis added). In 2019, France would veto accession talks with both, with Dutch and Danish backing for stalling Albania's negotiations (Emmott, Guarascio and Pennetier, 2019). In response, Council President Tusk met the Macedonian President and remarked that "over the last two years, your

country has delivered all the right political signals that the EU was expecting from the candidates", continuing that "you have done everything that was expected of you. But I want to be honest with you: not all member states are prepared to make the decision on opening negotiations in the coming days" (European Council, 2019). This represents another successful *Smoking Gun* test for *Theory 3*.

Event/Pattern	Period	Applicable theory	Type of evidence	Pass/Fail
Serbian engagement	2013-2021	T.1	Hoop (partial -	Pass
with third-party powers.			Serbia)	
Freedom to choose	2017	T.1	Hoop (partial -	Pass
alliance argument.			Serbia)	
Nationalism concerns.	2016	Т.2	Straw-in-the-	Pass
			Wind	
EU endorsing WB6	2015	T.2	Ноор	Pass
leaders.				
Increasing hands-off	2017	Т.2	Hoop (partial –	Fail
approach by EU.			Kosovo/Serbia)	
Brexit aftereffects.	2016	Т.3	Straw-in-the-	Pass
			Wind	
Critique Kosovar	2017	T.3	Smoking Gun	Pass
President.				
Member state vetoes.	2018-2019	Т.3	Smoking Gun	Pass

Table 2: Summary of presented evidence for Theory 1, 2 and 3, sorted by theory.

Discussion

Overall, as expected, all three theories show some validity. *Theory 1* on geopolitics seems somewhat helpful in explaining developments in Serbia's EU accession bid. It passes two *Hoop* tests for the country. It is clear, also confirmed in the literature, that Serbia uses its geopolitical positioning to leverage investments from the EU, and China and Russia. However, no evidence has been found to suggest a definitive turning away from EU accession. Moreover, no evidence supporting *Theory 1* has been found for the rest of the WB6.

Theory 2 on Stabilitocracy also somewhat illuminates how the WB6 and the EU relate to each other. It passes one *Straw-in-the-Wind* and one *Hoop* test, and it fails another *Hoop* test related to Kosovo and Serbia. The premise that the EU's policy towards the region is mainly aimed at avoiding and mitigating regional conflicts, is suggestively confirmed. Nevertheless, the crucial link of the EU allowing the WB6 leaders to regress in their adoption of the *acquis* is not found. Given the rise of *Theory 2* around 2016, it may have more explanatory value in the prior years, which would explain the absence of strong evidence in the researched timeframe.

Theory 3 appears to have the best explanatory value for the WB6's slow accessions. With one successful *Straw-in-the-Wind* and two *Smoking Gun* tests, there is strong evidence to suggest that internal EU politics is disincentivising WB6 governments to implement reforms. Notably, the words of Presidents Thaçi and Tusk demonstrate the understanding in both the WB6 and the EU that this is fundamental. Moreover, *Theory 3* seems to be particularly apt at explaining the accession trajectories for the entire region, rather than individual countries.

Nevertheless, there are some limitations to the study. First, due to its scope, the presented pieces of evidence are not exhaustive. Indeed, it is plausible that another author conducting longer research may find some evidential departures, but it is expected that this will not significantly deviate from the outlined patterns. Second, although justified in light of the WB6 progressions in negotiations (see Figure 3), the temporal delineation to the late 2010s somewhat narrows the breadth of the argument. Finally, due to the complex interaction of politics and state machinery involved in political reforms, no theory could be tested for a *Double Decisive*, precluding a definitive causal claim. Future research including interviews with state officials and politicians may be more revealing in that regard.

Conclusion

In summary, the Copenhagen Criteria for European Union enlargements constitute one of the world's most important political conditionality regimes in terms of scope and possible development outcomes. Where they have been critical in the positive development trajectories of many Eastern and Central European countries, they have been little successful in bringing about much-needed reforms in the six remaining non-EU member states of the Western Balkans. This paper has focussed on the politics behind the political conditionalities, examining how political decisions at the WB6 and EU levels have influenced the region's accession

trajectories. Through process tracing, it has been demonstrated that these developments can be best explained by the dynamics of internal EU politics, disincentivising WB6 governments to progress in their negotiations. Particularly, this has more explanatory value than theories emphasising geopolitical power struggles or autocratic leaders attempting to stay in power through the fabrication of crises.

This means that the EU, which frequently criticises the WB6 for not implementing reforms quickly and comprehensively enough, itself plays an important role. The EU's lack of commitment to its own accession policy has disincentivised the region's governments to invest the required political capital in implementing comprehensive and consequential reforms. Part of this seems to be the result of a negative feedback loop. Whilst the WB6 are disincentivised to make reforms due to a lack of credibility from the EU, the politicisation of their accessions within several EU member states (including Denmark and the Netherlands) is to some extent the result of the lack of reforms.

Moreover, there are few indications that within the Union the WB6 accessions are becoming less politicised. Admittedly, the recent lifting of Bulgaria's blockade to the opening of Albania and North Macedonia's negotiations shows that the country is somewhat able to engage with the region and come to a political agreement (Marusic, 2022a). However, recent remarks by President Macron (2022) about a "multi-speed Europe" and the Council's (2022) insistence on "the EU's capacity to absorb new members" suggest the politicisation of accessions persists elsewhere in the EU.

This study has thus reaffirmed the importance of understanding the politics behind political conditionality regimes. It is notable how critical these relatively arbitrary political decisions (in contrast to political decisions based on geopolitics or security) have been for the effectiveness of a policy from an international organisation that praises itself on its rules-based administration (European Commission, 2021b). Hence, it is not unlikely that similar dynamics may exist in other incentives-based political conditionality regimes from organisations that are more explicitly political, such as national governments. Nonetheless, the EU's Copenhagen Criteria are probably more important in domestic politics than conditionality regimes tied to development assistance.

At the same time, the effectiveness of political conditionality regimes *per se* is not challenged. On the contrary, the clear and coinciding response with non-compliance of all the WB6 to the faltering incentives set by the EU reaffirms the importance of these. Accordingly, if governments within the EU achieved a consistent and credible agreement on future enlargement, it is plausible the WB6 would react with implementing reforms that are conducive to their accession trajectories.

Concretely, the findings suggest that an incentives-based political conditionality regime has more likelihood of having the desired effects if its conditions are more isolated from politics. Whilst the most straightforward way would be for politicians to less politicise conditionality regimes, this may also be the hardest to realise. A more structural solution may include institutional change whereby politicians have less continuous control over the conditionalities after they have agreed on them. For the EU, this could involve a treaty change whereby the Council is not required to come to a unanimous agreement every time a candidate country progresses in the negotiations, which has allowed countries such as Bulgaria to use its veto to obtain relatively unrelated concessions. For instance, instead it could vote with some form of (super or qualified) majority at the beginning of the negotiations and once just before accession. For other organisations, it may be an argument for separating development assistance and foreign policy, for instance.

Finally, then, for countries like the WB6 that are at the receiving end of a politicised incentivesbased political conditionality regime, there seems to be little they can do. Politics, however, change quickly. At the time of writing, the EU is momentously rediverting attention to relations with its direct neighbours in the light of the war in Ukraine. With increasing political momentum for supporters of EU enlargement, it is unlikely it will take the WB6 another 20 years to join.

Bibliography

- Ağır, B.S., Arman, M.N. and Akçay, E.Y. (2019) 'The Peace-Building Efforts of the European Union in the Western Balkans: The Cases of Macedonia and Kosovo', *Dokuz Eylül Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitüsü Dergisi*, pp. 517–531. doi:10.16953/deusosbil.447043.
- Anđelić, N. (2020) 'Hybrid regimes of the Western Balkans: Reflection of a global geopolitical struggle', *Journal of Regional Security*, 15(2), pp. 263–289. doi:10.5937/jrs15-24525.
- Andersen, T.B., Hansen, H. and Markussen, T. (2006) 'US politics and World Bank IDA-lending', *The Journal of Development Studies*, 42(5), pp. 772–794. doi:10.1080/00220380600741946.
- Andersen, T.B., Harr, T. and Tarp, F. (2006) 'On US politics and IMF lending', *European Economic Review*, 50(7), pp. 1843–1862. doi:10.1016/j.euroecorev.2005.07.001.
- Andjelic, N. (2022) 'Western Balkans Regimes: Between European Democracy and Autocracy', in Andjelic, N. (ed.) *Covid-19, State-Power and Society in Europe: Focus on Western Balkans*. Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 37–58. doi:10.1007/978-3-030-91073-0_3.
- Ankersmit, L. (2021) 'What Does the "Suspension" of the EU-China Comprehensive Agreement on Investment Initiative Mean for the Credibility and Consistency of the Commission's "Values-Based" Trade Agenda?', *Legal Issues of Economic Integration*, pp. 223–228. doi:10.54648/leie2021017.
- Babb, S.L. and Carruthers, B.G. (2008) 'Conditionality: Forms, Function, and History', Annual Review of Law and Social Science, 4(1), pp. 13–29. doi:10.1146/annurev.lawsocsci.4.110707.172254.
- Baehr, P.R. (1997) 'Problems of aid conditionality: The Netherlands and Indonesia', *Third World Quarterly*, 18(2), pp. 363–376. doi:10.1080/01436599714984.
- Balfour, A. and Stratulat, C. (2015) 'EU member states and enlargement towards the Balkans', *European Policy Centre* [Preprint], (79).
- Bami, X. (2022) Competition or Complement? Calls to Restart Berlin Process Revive Balkan Dilemma, Balkan Insight. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2022/05/20/competition-orcomplement-calls-to-restart-berlin-process-revive-balkan-dilemma/ (Accessed: 29 June 2022).

- Banning, T. (2014) 'The Bonn Powers of the High Representative in Bosnia Herzegovina: Tracing a Legal Figment', *Goettingen Journal of International Law*, 6(2), pp. 259–302. doi:10.3249/1868-1581-6-2-banning.
- Bartlett, W. (2009) 'Economic development in the European super-periphery: Evidence from the Western Balkans', *Economic Annals*, 54(181), pp. 21–44. doi:10.2298/EKA0981021B.
- Bartlett, W. and Prica, I. (2013) 'The Deepening Crisis in the European Super-periphery', *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 15(4), pp. 367–382. doi:10.1080/19448953.2013.844587.
- Bartlett, W. and Prica, I. (2016) 'Interdependence between Core and Peripheries of the European Economy: Secular Stagnation and Growth in the Western Balkans', SSRN Electronic Journal [Preprint]. doi:10.2139/ssrn.2729882.
- Bartlett, W. and Prica, I. (2017) 'Debt in the super-periphery: the case of the Western Balkans', *Third World Thematics: A TWQ Journal*, 2(6), pp. 825–844. doi:10.1080/23802014.2017.1438850.
- Baylies, C. (1995) "Political conditionality" and democratisation', *Review of African Political Economy*, 22(65), pp. 321–337. doi:10.1080/03056249508704143.
- Beach, D. and Pedersen, R.B. (2013) *Process-Tracing Methods: Foundations and Guidelines*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- Beha, A. (2015) 'Disputes over the 15-point agreement on normalization of relations between Kosovo and Serbia', *Nationalities Papers*, 43(1), pp. 102–121. doi:10.1080/00905992.2014.990367.
- Belloni, R. (2016) 'The European Union Blowback? Euroscepticism and its Consequences in the Western Balkans', *Journal of Intervention and Statebuilding*, 10(4), pp. 530–547. doi:10.1080/17502977.2016.1211387.
- Bennett, A. (2009) 'Process Tracing: a Bayesian Perspective', in Box-Steffensmeier, J.M., Brady,
 H.E., and Collier, D. (eds) *The Oxford Handbook of Political Methodology*. 1st edn. Oxford: Oxford University Press, pp. 702–721.
- Bennett, A. (2010) 'Process Tracing and Causal Inference', in Brady, H.E. and Collier, D. (eds) *Rethinking Social Inquiry*. 2nd edn. Rowman & Littlefield Publishers, pp. 207–219.

- Bennett, A. and Checkel, J.T. (2014) 'Process tracing: From philosophical roots to best practices', in
 Bennett, A. and Checkel, J.T. (eds) *Process Tracing: From Metaphor to Analytic Tool*.
 Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Strategies for Social Inquiry), pp. 3–38.
- Beshku, K. (2021) 'The EU as a Geopolitical Power. The Case of the Western Balkans Region as the Periphery to the Core', *SSRN Electronic Journal* [Preprint]. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3930115.
- Beysoylu, C. (2018) 'Implementing Brussels Agreements: the EU's facilitating strategy and contrasting local perceptions of peace in Kosovo', *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies*, 18(2), pp. 203–218. doi:10.1080/14683857.2018.1474549.
- Bieber, F (2015) 'Ten rules by a 21st-century Machiavelli for the Balkan Prince', LSE Blog [Preprint]. Available at: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/lsee/2015/02/07/ten-rules-by-a-21st-centurymachiavelli-for-the-balkan-prince/ (Accessed: 10 July 2022).
- Bieber, Florian (2015) 'The Serbia-Kosovo Agreements: An eu Success Story?', *Review of Central and East European Law*, 40(3–4), pp. 285–319. doi:https://doi.org/10.1163/15730352-04003008.
- Bieber, F. (2017) 'What is a stabilitocracy?', *BiEPAG* [Preprint]. Available at: https://biepag.eu/article/what-is-a-stabilitocracy/ (Accessed: 7 July 2022).
- Bieber, F. (2018) 'Patterns of competitive authoritarianism in the Western Balkans', *East European Politics*, 34(3), pp. 337–354. doi:10.1080/21599165.2018.1490272.
- Bieber, F. and Kmezić, M. (2014) The Unfulfilled Promise: Completing the Balkan Enlargement. Graz. Available at: https://biepag.eu/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Unfulfilled-Promise-Completing-the-EU-Enlargement-to-the-Balkans.pdf (Accessed: 18 August 2022).
- Bieber, F. and Kmezić, M. (2017) Policy Paper: Western Balkans and the EU Fresh Wind in the Sails of Enlargement. Available at: https://biepag.eu/publication/policy-paper-westernbalkans-and-the-eu-fresh-wind-in-the-sails-of-enlargement/ (Accessed: 7 July 2022).
- Bieber, F and Tzifakis, N (2019a) 'Introduction: The influence of external actors in the Western Balkans', in Bieber, Florian and Tzifakis, Nikolaos (eds) *The Western Balkans in the World*.
 1st edn. Oxon: Routledge, pp. 1–14. doi:10.4324/9780429243349-1.
- Bieber, F. and Tzifakis, N. (2019b) The Western Balkans as a Geopolitical Chessboard? Myths, Realities and Policy Options. Available at: https://biepag.eu/wpcontent/uploads/2021/07/The_Western_Balkans_as_a_Geopolitical_Chessboard.pdf (Accessed: 18 August 2022).
- Bieri, M. (2015) 'The Western Balkans between Europe and Russia', CSS Analyses in Security Policy. Edited by C. Nünlist. Center for Security Studies (CSS), ETH Zürich. doi:10.3929/ethz-a-010398137.
- BIRN (no date) China in the Balkans, Balkan Insight. Available at: https://china.balkaninsight.com/ (Accessed: 25 July 2022).
- Borchert, I. et al. (2018) Trade Conditionality in the EU and WTO legal regimes. RESPECT working paper, December 2018.
- 'Brdo Declaration' (2017) Brdo-Brijuni Process. Brdo. Available at: http://www.up-rs.si/uprs/uprs.nsf/objave/8B2809C0335094C2C125813600260FF2?OpenDocument (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Bugarski, R. (2012) 'Language, identity and borders in the former Serbo-Croatian area', *Journal of Multilingual and Multicultural Development*, 33(3), pp. 219–235. doi:10.1080/01434632.2012.663376.
- Buller, J. and Gamble, A. (2002) 'Conceptualising Europeanisation', *Public Policy and Administration*, 17(2), pp. 4–24. doi:10.1177/095207670201700202.
- Center for Insights in Survey Research (2020) Western Balkans Regional Poll. Available at: https://www.iri.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/final_wb_poll_for_publishing_6.9.2020.pdf (Accessed: 28 May 2022).
- Centre for Media Pluralism and Freedom (2022) *Media Pluralism Monitor*, *Robert Schuman Centre*. Available at: https://cmpf.eui.eu/mpm-2022-interactive/ (Accessed: 27 July 2022).
- Chinese Consulate-General to Surabaya (2015) 'Xi Jinping Meets with President Tomislav Nikolić of Serbia'. Available at: https://www.mfa.gov.cn/ce/surabaya/eng/xw_2/t1293140.htm (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Collier, D. (2011) 'Understanding Process Tracing', *PS: Political Science & Politics*, 44(04), pp. 823–830. doi:10.1017/S1049096511001429.
- Delegation of the EU to Serbia (2020) *EU Partnership with Serbia: EU Best Partner and Biggest Donor for 20 Years and in the Front Line against COVID-19.* Available at: https://www.eeas.europa.eu/delegations/serbia/eu-partnership-serbia-eu-best-partner-and-biggest-donor-20-years-%E2%80%93-and-front_en?s=227 (Accessed: 4 July 2022).

- Dijkstra, G.S.A. and Raadschelders, J.C.N. (2022) 'The High Representative in Bosnia-Herzegovina', *World Affairs*, 185(2), pp. 285–311. doi:10.1177/00438200221087971.
- Dordević, V., Turcsányi, R. and Vučković, V. (2021) 'Beyond the EU as the "Only Game in Town": the Europeanisation of the Western Balkans and the role of China', *Eastern Journal of European Studies*, 12(2), pp. 21–45. doi:10.47743/ejes-2021-0202.
- Dreher, A., Sturm, J.-E. and Vreeland, J.R. (2015) 'Politics and IMF Conditionality', *Journal of Conflict Resolution*, 59(1), pp. 120–148. doi:10.1177/0022002713499723.
- DW (2017) 'Hashim Thaci: 'Serbia is distributing arms in northern Kosovo''. Available at: https://www.dw.com/en/hashim-thaci-serbia-is-distributing-arms-in-northern-kosovo/a-37320626 (Accessed: 30 July 2022).
- Economides, S. (2020) From Fatigue to Resistance: EU Enlargement and the Western Balkans. 17. Available at: https://www.dahrendorf-forum.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/From-Fatigueto-Resistance.pdf (Accessed: 18 August 2022).
- EFB (2020) *The Western Balkans in times of pandemic-public opinion survey*. Available at: http://balkanfund.org/european-integration/the-complete-efbs-opinion-survey-the-westernbalkans-in-times-of-pandemic-is-available-for-the-public (Accessed: 13 June 2022).
- Efevwerhan, D.I. (1999) 'Kosovo's Chances of UN Membership: A Prognosis', *Goettingen Journal* of International Law 4, 93(130).
- Emerson, M. *et al.* (2006) 'Just what is this "absorption capacity" of the European Union?', *CEPS*, (113). Available at: https://www.ceps.eu/wp-content/uploads/2013/02/1381.pdf (Accessed: 26 July 2022).
- Emmott, R., Guarascio, F. and Pennetier, M. (2019) 'France under fire for "historic error" of blocking Balkan EU hopefuls', *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-eusummit-balkans-idUSKBN1WX1CT (Accessed: 1 August 2022).
- Eror, A. (2022) 'For Serbia's Vučić, the big challenge comes after election day', *Politico*. Available at: https://www.politico.eu/article/serbia-election-2022-president-aleksandar-vucic-russiaukraine-war/ (Accessed: 29 June 2022).
- EU Delegation to Bosnia and Herzegovina (2015) 'Remarks by HR/VP Mogherini at the joint press conference with Chancellor Faymann, Chancellor Merkel and Prime Minister Vučić', Delegation of the European Union to Bosnia and Herzegovina & European Union Special

Representative in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Vienna. Available at: https://europa.ba/?p=36004 (Accessed: 28 July 2022).

- EU Delegation to Bosnia and Herzegovina (2017) 'Joint Statement Western Balkans Six Prime Ministers meeting', *Delegation of the European Union to Bosnia and Herzegovina & European Union Special Representative in Bosnia and Herzegovina* [Preprint]. Sarajevo. Available at: https://europa.ba/?p=48243 (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- EU External Action (2018) Visa Liberalisation: EC confirms Kosovo fulfils all required benchmarks. Available at: https://www.eeas.europa.eu/node/48608_en (Accessed: 30 July 2022).
- EU External Action Service (2011) 'Association Agreements'. Available at: https://eeas.europa.eu/archives/docs/association/docs/agreements_en.pdf (Accessed: 27 June 2022).
- European Commission (2006) 'Enlargement strategy 2006-2007: challenges and integration capacity'. Brussels. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=LEGISSUM:e50025&from=DE (Accessed: 26 July 2022).
- European Commission (2014) 'The Juncker Commission: A strong and experienced team standing for change'. Brussels. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP 14 984 (Accessed: 26 July 2022).
- European Commission (2017) Conditions for membership, European Neighbourhood Policy and Enlargement Negotiations. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhoodenlargement/enlargement-policy/conditions-membership_en (Accessed: 11 June 2022).
- European Commission (2018) Strategy for the Western Balkans: EU sets out new flagship initiatives and support for the reform-driven region. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhoodenlargement/news/strategy-western-balkans-eu-sets-out-new-flagship-initiatives-and-supportreform-driven-region-2018-02-06_en (Accessed: 13 June 2022).
- European Commission (2019) Commission Opinion on Bosnia and Herzegovina's application for membership of the European Union. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhoodenlargement/system/files/2019-05/20190529-bosnia-and-herzegovina-opinion.pdf (Accessed: 27 June 2022).
- European Commission (2020a) 'A more credible, dynamic, predictable and political EU accession process'. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/news/more-credible-

dynamic-predictable-and-political-eu-accession-process-commission-lays-out-its-2020-02-05_en (Accessed: 24 July 2022).

- European Commission (2020b) *EU trade relations with Western Balkans*. Available at: https://policy.trade.ec.europa.eu/eu-trade-relationships-country-and-region/countries-and-regions/western-balkans_en (Accessed: 16 June 2022).
- European Commission (2021a) '2021 Enlargement package: European Commission assesses and sets out reform priorities for the Western Balkans and Turkey'. Strasbourg. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/IP_21_5275 (Accessed: 18 March 2022).
- European Commission (2021b) Joint communication to the European Parliament and the Council. Brussels. Available at: https://www.eeas.europa.eu/sites/default/files/en_strategy_on_strengthening_the_eus_contrib ution_to_rules-based_multilateralism.pdf (Accessed: 16 August 2022).
- European Commission (2021c) *Montenegro 2021 Report*. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/montenegro-report-2021_en (Accessed: 29 June 2022).
- European Commission (2021d) Serbia 2021 Report. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/serbia-report-2021_en#details (Accessed: 29 June 2022).
- European Commission (2021e) Stabilisation and Association Process. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/enlargement-policy/glossary/stabilisationand-association-process_en (Accessed: 27 June 2022).
- European Commission (no date a) *Chapters of the acquis*. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/enlargement-policy/conditionsmembership/chapters-acquis en (Accessed: 18 June 2022).
- European Commission (no date b) *EU accession process*. Brussels. Available at: https://ec.europa.eu/neighbourhood-enlargement/system/files/2021-10/eu_accession_process_clusters.pdf (Accessed: 11 June 2022).
- European Council (1993) 'Presidency Conclusions: Copenhagen European Council'. Available at: https://www.europarl.europa.eu/enlargement/ec/pdf/cop_en.pdf (Accessed: 18 June 2022).

European Council (2003) 'EU-Western Balkans Summit Thessaloniki Declaration'. Thessaloniki.

- European Council (2016) 'Council conclusions on the application of Bosnia and Herzegovina for membership of the EU - Consilium'. Brussels. Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2016/09/20/conclusions-bosnia/ (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- European Council (2018) *EU and Western Balkans intertwined*. Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/infographics/western-balkans-economy/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- European Council (2019) 'Remarks by President Donald Tusk after his meeting with President of North Macedonia Stevo Pendarovski'. Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2019/06/12/remarks-by-presidentdonald-tusk-after-his-meeting-with-president-of-north-macedonia-stevo-pendarovski/ (Accessed: 1 August 2022).
- European Council (2022) 'European Council conclusions on Ukraine, the membership applications of Ukraine, the Republic of Moldova and Georgia, Western Balkans and external relations, 23 June 2022'. Brussels. Available at: https://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2022/06/23/european-council-conclusions-on-ukraine-the-membership-applications-of-ukraine-the-republic-of-moldova-and-georgia-western-balkans-and-external-relations-23-june-2022/ (Accessed: 15 August 2022).
- European Union (2007) Treaty of Lisbon amending the Treaty on European Union and the Treaty establishing the European Community. Available at: https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legalcontent/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A12007L%2FTXT (Accessed: 18 June 2022).
- van Evera, S. (1997) *Guide to Methods for Students of Political Science*. 1st edn. New York: Cornell University Press.
- Fairfield, T. and Charman, A. (2015) Formal Bayesian process tracing: guidelines, opportunities, and caveats. Available at: http://eprints.lse.ac.uk/62368/1/Fairfield_Formal%20Bayesian%20process%20tracing.pdf (Accessed: 1 August 2022).
- Fejérdy, G. (2020) 'Enlargement of the European Union in the Western Balkans from a French Perspective', in *Historical Experience and the Reunification of Europe*, pp. 30–54.

- Fererro-Turrión, R. (2015) 'The EU Approach to the Western Balkans: A Security or Political Issue Special Section: The European Union and the Western Balkans', *Europolity: Continuity and Change in European Governance*, 9(2), pp. 11–28.
- Fleck, R.K. and Kilby, C. (2006) 'World Bank Independence: A Model and Statistical Analysis of US Influence', *Review of Development Economics*, 10(2), pp. 224–240. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9361.2006.00314.x.
- Fleming, S. and Foy, H. (2021) 'Slovenia urges EU to admit western Balkan states by 2030', *Financial Times*. Available at: https://www.ft.com/content/39750a50-faf3-4d25-afddf18ef9071e00 (Accessed: 13 June 2022).
- Flockhart, T. (2010) 'Europeanization or EU-ization? The Transfer of European Norms across Time and Space', *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 48(4), pp. 787–810. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5965.2010.02074.x.
- Fruchter, D. (2018) Western Balkans and the European Union: political ties lagging behind economic ones. Paris. Available at: https://www.coface.com/News-Publications/Publications/Western-Balkans-and-the-European-Union-political-ties-laggingbehind-economic-ones (Accessed: 18 August 2022).
- Gadzo, M. (2022) 'Kosovo, Bosnia call for NATO membership as war rages in Ukraine', *Al Jazeera*. Available at: https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2022/4/5/nato-membership-indispensable-forkosovo-bosnia-leaders (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- Gafuri, A. and Muftuler-Bac, M. (2021) 'Caught between stability and democracy in the Western Balkans: a comparative analysis of paths of accession to the European Union', *East European Politics*, 37(2), pp. 267–291. doi:10.1080/21599165.2020.1781094.
- Gateva, E. (2013) 'Post-accession conditionality translating benchmarks into political pressure?', *East European Politics*, 29(4), pp. 420–442. doi:10.1080/21599165.2013.836491.
- Gateva, E. (2015) *European Union Enlargement Conditionality*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK. doi:10.1057/9781137482433.
- Gerring, J. (2016) *Case Study Research: Principles and Practices*. 2nd edn, *Strategies for Social Inquiry*. 2nd edn. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi:10.1017/9781316848593.
- Gill, I.S. and Raiser, M. (2011) Golden Growth. The World Bank. doi:10.1596/978-0-8213-8965-2.

- Goedemé, T. and Collado, D. (2016) 'The EU Convergence Machine at Work. To the Benefit of the EU's Poorest Citizens?', *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 54(5), pp. 1142–1158. doi:10.1111/jcms.12382.
- Gotev, G. (2017) 'During Albania visit, Kosovo President defies EU', *EURACTIV*. Available at: https://www.euractiv.com/section/enlargement/news/during-albania-visit-kosovo-presidentdefies-eu/ (Accessed: 30 July 2022).
- Grabbe, H. (2002) 'European Union Conditionality and the "Acquis Communautaire", *International Political Science Review / Revue internationale de science politique*, 23(3), pp. 249–268.
- Grabbe, H. (2005) *The EU's Transformative Power : Europeanization Through Conditionality in Central and Eastern Europe*. London: Palgrave Macmillan. doi:10.1057/9780230510302.
- Hartwell, C. and Sidlo, K. (2017) Serbia's Cooperation with China, the European Union, Russia and the United States of America. doi:10.2861/234510.
- Hendra, J. (1987) 'Only "Fit to be Tied": A Comparison of the Canadian Tied Aid Policy with the Tied Aid Policies of Sweden, Norway and Denmark', *Canadian Journal of Development Studies / Revue canadienne d'études du développement*, 8(2), pp. 261–281. doi:10.1080/02255189.1987.9670190.
- Holesch, A. and Kyriazi, A. (2022) 'Democratic backsliding in the European Union: the role of the Hungarian-Polish coalition', *East European Politics*, 38(1), pp. 1–20. doi:10.1080/21599165.2020.1865319.
- Hughes, J., Sasse, G. and Gordon, C. (2004) Europeanization and Regionalization in the EU's Enlargement to Central and Eastern Europe: The Myth of Conditionality. London: Palgrave Macmillan. doi:10.1057/9780230503182.
- ICJ (2007) 'Bosnia and Herzegovina v. Serbia and Montenegro'. The Hague: United Nations, 17 February.
- ICTY (2004) 'Prosecutor v. Radislav Krstić'. The Hague: United Nations, 1 April.
- Institute for European Affairs (2021) *Stavovi građana srbije prema Rusiji*. Available at: https://iea.rs/wp-content/uploads/2021/07/Stav-gradjana-Srbije-RUSIJA-2021.pdf (Accessed: 4 July 2022).
- Isufi, P. and Stojanovic, M. (2021) 'Kosovo, Serbia Agree to End Border Blockade Without Solution to Licence Plate Dispute', *Balkan Insights*. Available at:

https://balkaninsight.com/2021/09/30/kosovo-serbia-agree-to-end-border-blockade-without-solution-to-licence-plate-dispute/ (Accessed: 23 June 2022).

- Ivković, A. (2022) 'What is the state of the implementation of the sanctions on Russia in the Western Balkans?', *European Western Balkans*. Available at: https://europeanwesternbalkans.com/2022/06/04/what-is-the-state-of-the-implementation-ofthe-sanctions-on-russia-in-the-western-balkans/ (Accessed: 18 June 2022).
- Jarvis, C. (2000) 'The Rise and Fall of Albania's Pyramid Schemes', *Finance & Development, IMF*, 37(11).
- Jukic, E.M. (2014) 'UK, Germany Launch Joint Initiative on Bosnia', *Balkan Insight*. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2014/11/05/uk-germany-propose-bosnia-s-renewed-eu-perspective/ (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Kakachia, K. and Lebanidze, B. (2022) 'Georgia, Moldova, Ukraine the case for granting EU candidacy', *EU Observer*. Available at: https://euobserver.com/opinion/154977 (Accessed: 18 June 2022).
- Kale, N.K. (2001) 'Good governance as political conditionality', *African Anthropologist*, 8(1), pp. 20–38. doi:10.4314/aa.v8i1.23100.
- Kentikelenis, A.E., Stubbs, T.H. and King, L.P. (2016) 'IMF conditionality and development policy space, 1985–2014', *Review of International Political Economy*, 23(4), pp. 543–582. doi:10.1080/09692290.2016.1174953.
- Ker-Lindsay, J. et al. (2017) 'The national politics of EU enlargement in the Western Balkans', Southeast European and Black Sea Studies, 17(4), pp. 511–522. doi:10.1080/14683857.2017.1424398.
- Ker-Lindsay, J. and Economides, S. (2012) 'Standards before Status before Accession: Kosovo's EU Perspective', *Journal of Balkan and Near Eastern Studies*, 14(1), pp. 77–92. doi:10.1080/19448953.2012.656939.
- Kilby, C. (2009) 'The political economy of conditionality: An empirical analysis of World Bank loan disbursements', *Journal of Development Economics*, 89(1), pp. 51–61. doi:10.1016/j.jdeveco.2008.06.014.
- Kishore, P. (2017) 'A Critical Analysis of Conditionalities in the Generalized System of Preferences', *Canadian Yearbook of international Law/Annuaire canadien de droit international*. 2017/07/18, 54, pp. 98–133. doi:10.1017/cyl.2017.8.

- Kmezić, M. (2020) 'Rule of law and democracy in the Western Balkans: addressing the gap between policies and practice', *Southeast European and Black Sea Studies*, 20(1), pp. 183–198. doi:10.1080/14683857.2019.1706257.
- Koch, S. (2015) 'A Typology of Political Conditionality Beyond Aid: Conceptual Horizons Based on Lessons from the European Union', *World Development*, 75, pp. 97–108. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.01.006.
- Koeberle, S. *et al.* (2005) *Conditionality Revisited : Concepts, Experiences, and Lessons Learned.* Washington: World Bank Publications.
- Konitzer, A. (2011) 'Serbia between East and West', *Russian History*, 38(1), pp. 103–124. doi:10.1163/187633111X549623.
- Konya, L. and Guisan, M.-C. (2008) 'What Does the Human Development Index Tell us about Convergence?', Applied Econometrics and International Development, Vol. 8, No. 1, 2008, 8(1).
- Ladrech, R. (1994) 'Europeanization of Domestic Politics and Institutions: The Case of France', *Journal of Common Market Studies*, 32(1), pp. 69–88. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5965.1994.tb00485.x.
- Landry, R. (1999) The European Community Monitoring Mission (ECMM) in former Yugoslavia: Lessons Learned for OAU Civilian Missions. Available at: https://pdf.usaid.gov/pdf_docs/Pnacl721.pdf (Accessed: 22 June 2022).
- Larsen, H.B.L. (2020) 'The Western Balkans between the EU, NATO, Russia and China', CSS Analyses in Security Policy. Edited by L. Watanabe and J. Kamasa, 263. doi:10.3929/ethz-b-000412853.
- Lilyanova, V. and Dietrich, C. (2016) 'The Western Balkans and the EU Enlargement and challenges', *European Parliamentary Research Service*.
- Macron, E. (2022) 'Speech by Emmanuel Macron at the closing ceremony of the Conference on the Future of Europe French Presidency of the Council of the European Union 2022', *EU Presidency*. Strasbourg. Available at: https://presidence-francaise.consilium.europa.eu/en/news/speech-by-emmanuel-macron-at-the-closing-ceremony-of-the-conference-on-the-future-of-europe/ (Accessed: 26 July 2022).
- Mahoney, J. (2012) 'The Logic of Process Tracing Tests in the Social Sciences', *Sociological Methods & Research*, 41(4), pp. 570–597. doi:10.1177/0049124112437709.

- Makochi, M. and Nechev, Z. (2017) 'Balkan corruption: the China connection', *European Union Institute for Security Studies*, 22.
- Makocki, M. (2017) 'China in the Balkans: the battle of principles', Clingendael Spectator, 71(4).
- Markovic Khaze, N. and Wang, X. (2021) 'Is China's rising influence in the Western Balkans a threat to European integration?', *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 29(2), pp. 234–250. doi:10.1080/14782804.2020.1823340.
- Marusic, S.J. (2022a) 'Bulgaria Parliament Approves Lifting North Macedonia Blockade', *Balkan Insight*. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2022/06/24/bulgaria-parliament-approves-lifting-north-macedonia-blockade/ (Accessed: 27 June 2022).
- Marusic, S.J. (2022b) Montenegro Mulls Joining 'Open Balkan' Initiative, Kosovo Remains Opposed, Balkan Insight. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2022/06/08/montenegromulls-joining-open-balkan-initiative-kosovo-remains-opposed/ (Accessed: 29 June 2022).
- Mayer, W. and Mourmouras, A. (2004) 'IMF Conditionality and the Theory of Special Interest Politics', *Comparative Economic Studies*, 46(3), pp. 400–422. doi:10.1057/palgrave.ces.8100064.
- Mckenzie, L. and Meissner, K.L. (2017) 'Human Rights Conditionality in European Union Trade Negotiations: the Case of the EU-Singapore FTA', *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 55(4), pp. 832–849. doi:10.1111/jcms.12522.
- Mejdini, F. (2016) 'Albania MPs Finally Adopt Judicial Reform', *Balkan Insight*. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2016/07/22/albanian-parliament-passes-with-unanimity-thejudicial-reform-07-22-2016/ (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Melander, I. and Pineau, E. (2016) 'EU leaders tell Balkan states accession talks to go on despite Brexit', *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-britain-eu-balkans-summitidUSKCN0ZK1XO (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Mema, F. (1998) 'Did Albania Really Need Operation "Alba"?', *Security Dialogue*, 29(1), pp. 59–62. doi:10.1177/0967010698029001006.
- Miščević, T. and Mrak, M. (2017) 'The EU Accession Process: Western Balkans vs EU-10', *Croatian Political Science Review*, 54(4), pp. 185–204.
- Molenaers, N., Dellepiane, S. and Faust, J. (2015) 'Political Conditionality and Foreign Aid', *World Development*, 75, pp. 2–12. doi:10.1016/j.worlddev.2015.04.001.

- Moravcsik, A. (1998) *The choice for Europe : social purpose and state power from Messina to Maastricht*. London: UCL Press.
- N1 Sarajevo (2020) 'Dodik to initiate mechanism to veto Bosnia's recognition of Kosovo', *N1*. Available at: https://ba.n1info.com/english/news/a462287-dodik-to-initiate-mechanism-to-veto-bosnias-recognition-of-kosovo/ (Accessed: 23 June 2022).
- Narula, R. and Bellak, C. (2009) 'EU enlargement and consequences for FDI assisted industrial development', *Transnational Corporations*, 18(2), pp. 69–90.
- Narula, R. and Bellak, C. (2011) 'FDI-assisted industrial development and EU enlargement', in Claes, D.H. and Knutsen, C.H. (eds) *Governing the Global Economy: Politics, Institutions,* and Economic Development. 1st edn. Routledge, pp. 1–362. doi:10.4324/9780203813744.
- Nicolaides, P. (1998) 'Negotiating effectively for accession to the European Union: realistic expectations, feasible targets, credible arguments', *Eipascope*, 1998(1), pp. 1–6.
- Noutcheva, G. (2009) 'Fake, partial and imposed compliance: the limits of the EU's normative power in the Western Balkans', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16(7), pp. 1065–1084. doi:10.1080/13501760903226872.
- Oatley, T. and Yackee, J. (2004) 'American Interests and IMF Lending', *International Politics*, 41(3), pp. 415–429. doi:10.1057/palgrave.ip.8800085.
- O'Brennan, J. (2006) "Bringing Geopolitics Back In": Exploring the Security Dimension of the 2004 Eastern Enlargement of the European Union', *Cambridge Review of International Affairs*, 19(1), pp. 155–169. doi:10.1080/09557570500501911.
- O'Brennan, J. (2014) 'On the Slow Train to Nowhere? The European Union, Enlargement Fatigue, and the Western Balkans', *European Foreign Affairs Review*, 19(Issue 2), pp. 221–241. doi:10.54648/EERR2014011.
- Öztürk, M.T. (2022) 'Serbia will not join NATO: President', AA. Available at: https://www.aa.com.tr/en/europe/serbia-will-not-join-nato-president/2535096 (Accessed: 29 June 2022).
- 'Paris Declaration' (2016). Paris. Berlin Process.
- Pavlićević, D. (2019) 'Structural power and the China-EU-Western Balkans triangular relations', *Asia Europe Journal*, 17(4), pp. 453–468. doi:10.1007/s10308-019-00566-y.

- Pavlović, S. (2016) 'Montenegro's "stabilitocracy": The West's support of Đukanović is damaging the prospects of democratic change', *LSE Blog*. Available at: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/europpblog/2016/12/23/montenegros-stabilitocracy-how-the-westssupport-of-dukanovic-is-damaging-the-prospects-of-democratic-change/ (Accessed: 7 July 2022).
- Pavlović, S. (2017) 'West is best: How "stabilitocracy" undermines democracy building in the Balkans', LSE Blog [Preprint]. Available at: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/europpblog/2017/05/05/west-is-best-how-stabilitocracy-underminesdemocracy-building-in-the-balkans/ (Accessed: 10 July 2022).
- Petrovic, M. and Wilson, G. (2021) 'Bilateral relations in the Western Balkans as a challenge for EU accession', *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 29(2), pp. 201–218. doi:10.1080/14782804.2020.1865884.
- Popovikj, M. (2017) 'Violence in the Macedonian parliament: What happened and how should the EU respond?', LSE Blog [Preprint]. Available at: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/europpblog/2017/04/28/violence-macedonian-parliament-whathappened-eu-response/ (Accessed: 10 July 2022).
- Poznatov, M. (2015) 'Serbian army to take part in Moscow parade', *Euractiv*. Available at: https://www.euractiv.com/section/global-europe/news/serbian-army-to-take-part-in-moscowparade/ (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Primatarova, A. and Deimel, J. (2012) Bridge over Troubled Waters? The Role of the Internationals in Albania. Sofia.
- Pula, B. (2014) 'Effects of the European financial and economic crisis in Kosovo and the Balkans: modes of integration and transmission belts of crisis in the "super-periphery", *East European Politics*, 30(4), pp. 507–525. doi:10.1080/21599165.2014.937430.
- Radosavljevic, Z. and Morgan, S. (2018) 'The Brief Macron pulls the Balkan rug', *EURACTIV*. Available at: https://www.euractiv.com/section/enlargement/news/the-brief-macron-pulls-the-balkan-rug/ (Accessed: 30 July 2022).
- Rama, E., Vučić, A. and Zaev, Z. (2021) 'Albanien, Serbien und Nordmazedonien sehen ihre Initiative "Open Balkan" als einen großen Schritt in Richtung einer EU-Mitgliedschaft. Ein Gastbeitrag.', *Frankfurter Allgemeine Zeitung*, December. Available at:

https://www.faz.net/aktuell/politik/ausland/serbien-albanien-nordmazedonien-initiative-openbalkan-17692062.html (Accessed: 18 March 2022).

- Rehn, O. (2007) 'Enlargement as an instrument of the EU's soft power'. Anna Lindh Award Ceremony.
- Rezler, P. (2011) 'The Copenhagen Criteria: Are They Helping or Hurting the European Union?', *Touro International Law Review*, 14(2). Available at: http://europa.eu/about-eu/member-(Accessed: 24 July 2022).
- Ricks, J.I. and Liu, A.H. (2018) 'Process-Tracing Research Designs: A Practical Guide', *PS: Political Science & Politics*, 51(4), pp. 842–846. doi:10.1017/S1049096518000975.
- Roberts, A. (1999) 'NATO's "Humanitarian War" over Kosovo', *Survival*, 41(3), pp. 102–123. doi:10.1080/00396339912331342943.
- Ronelle, A. (2013) 'Language and Identity: The Fate of Serbo-Croatian', in *Entangled Histories of the Balkans Volume One*. BRILL, pp. 341–417. doi:10.1163/9789004250765_009.
- Rüma, I. (2014) 'The Economic Crisis of 2008: Reproduction of the Core-Periphery Relations between the European Core and the Balkans', *METU Studies in Development*, 41(3), pp. 297–322. Available at: https://open.metu.edu.tr/bitstream/handle/11511/58267/732-4187-1-PB.pdf (Accessed: 18 August 2022).
- Sadurski, W. (2004) 'Accession's Democracy Dividend: The Impact of the EU Enlargement upon Democracy in the New Member States of Central and Eastern Europe', *European Law Journal*, 10(4), pp. 371–401. doi:10.1111/j.1468-0386.2004.00222.x.
- Salem, H. (2017) 'Kosovo, Serb dispute threatens to derail Balkan peace', *POLITICO*. Available at: https://www.politico.eu/article/eu-kosovo-serbia-train-dispute-eu-mogherini-vucic-thaci/ (Accessed: 30 July 2022).
- 'Sarajevo Declaration' (2016). Sarajevo. Brdo-Brijuni Process.
- Sasse, G. (2008) 'The politics of EU conditionality: the norm of minority protection during and beyond EU accession', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 15(6), pp. 842–860. doi:10.1080/13501760802196580.
- Schimmelfennig, F. (2014) 'Efficient process tracing: Analyzing the causal mechanisms of European integration', in Bennett, A. and Checkel, J.T. (eds) *Process Tracing: From Metaphor to*

Analytic Tool. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press (Strategies for Social Inquiry), pp. 98–125. doi:10.1017/CBO9781139858472.007.

- Schimmelfennig, F. and Sedelmeier, U. (2004) 'Governance by conditionality: EU rule transfer to the candidate countries of Central and Eastern Europe', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 11(4), pp. 661–679. doi:10.1080/1350176042000248089.
- Schimmelfennig, F. and Sedelmeier, U. (2008) 'Candidate Countries and Conditionality', in Graziano, P. and Vink, M.P. (eds) *Europeanization: New Research Agendas*. London: Palgrave Macmillan UK, pp. 88–101. doi:10.1057/9780230584525_7.
- Schimmelfennig, F. and Sedelmeier, U. (2020) 'The Europeanization of Eastern Europe: the external incentives model revisited', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 27(6), pp. 814–833. doi:10.1080/13501763.2019.1617333.
- Scholl, M. (2018) Labeling the [Balkans]. Available at: https://www.helvetas.org/en/easterneurope/about-us/follow-us/helvetas-mosaic/article/September2018/Labeling-the-Balkans (Accessed: 18 June 2022).
- Secrieru, S. and Analyst, S. (2019) *Russia in the Western Balkans: Tactical wins, strategic setbacks*. Available at: https://www.iss.europa.eu/content/russia-western-balkans (Accessed: 1 July 2022).
- Sekularac, I. (2016) 'China's Xi sees Serbia as milestone on new "Silk Road", *Reuters*. Available at: https://www.reuters.com/article/us-serbia-china-idUSKCN0Z50DV (Accessed: 28 July 2022).
- Sen, A.K. (1999) 'Democracy as a Universal Value', *Journal of Democracy*, 10(3), pp. 3–17. doi:10.1353/jod.1999.0055.
- Serbian Ministry of European Integration (2019) European Orientation of Serbian Citizens: Public Opinion Poll. Available at: https://www.mei.gov.rs/eng/documents/nationaldocuments/public-opinion-poll/ (Accessed: 13 June 2022).
- Serbian Ministry of European Integration (2021) Public Opinion Poll: European Orientation of Serbian Citizens. Available at: https://www.mei.gov.rs/eng/documents/nationaldocuments/public-opinion-poll/ (Accessed: 4 July 2022).
- Shopov, V. (2022) Mapping China's rise in the Western Balkans, European Council on Foreign Relations. Available at: https://ecfr.eu/special/china-balkans/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).

- Sicurelli, D. (2015) 'The EU as a Promoter of Human Rights in Bilateral Trade Agreements: The Case of the Negotiations with Vietnam', *Journal of Contemporary European Research*, 11(2), pp. 230–245.
- Skara, G. (2020) 'The Rocky Road of Western Balkan Countries toward European Integration: The Need for a Credible and Effective Approach', SSRN Electronic Journal, 3(1), pp. 1–17. doi:10.2139/ssrn.3761105.
- Smith, K.E. (1998) 'The Use of Political Conditionality in the EU's Relations with Third Countries: How Effective?', *European Foreign Affairs Review*, pp. 253–274. Available at: http://www.kluwerlawonline.com/api/Product/CitationPDFURL?file=Journals\EERR\EERR1 998015.pdf.
- Smith, N.R., Markovic Khaze, N. and Kovacevic, M. (2021) 'The EU's stability-democracy dilemma in the context of the problematic accession of the Western Balkan states', *Journal of Contemporary European Studies*, 29(2), pp. 169–183. doi:10.1080/14782804.2020.1823823.
- Startin, N. and Krouwel, A. (2013) 'Euroscepticism Re-galvanized: The Consequences of the 2005 French and Dutch Rejections of the EU Constitution', *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 51(1), pp. 65–84. doi:10.1111/j.1468-5965.2012.02301.x.
- Stefanova, B. (2006) 'The "No" Vote in the French and Dutch Referenda on the EU Constitution: A Spillover of Consequences for the Wider Europe', *PS: Political Science & Consequences* 2006/04/25, 39(2), pp. 251–255. doi:10.1017/S1049096506060410.
- Stojanovic, M. (2022) 'Serbia to Resume Kosovo Derecognition Campaign, Minister Says', Balkan Insight. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2022/05/13/serbia-to-resume-kosovoderecognition-campaign-minister-says/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- Stojkovski, B. (2020) 'Balkan Countries "Still Heavily Dependent on Russian Gas" ', Balkan Insight. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2020/11/24/balkan-countries-still-heavilydependent-on-russian-gas/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- Stojkovski, B. *et al.* (2021) 'China in the Balkans: Controversy and Cost', *Balkan Insight*. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2021/12/15/china-in-the-balkans-controversy-and-cost/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- Stone, R.W. (2008) 'The Scope of IMF Conditionality', *International Organization*, 62(4), pp. 589–620. doi:10.1017/S0020818308080211.

- Sufi, P. (2022) 'BIRN Fact-Check: Is Kosovo Set to Join the Council of Europe?', Balkan Insight. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2022/05/12/birn-fact-check-is-kosovo-set-to-join-thecouncil-of-europe/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- Suwa-Eisenmann, A. and Verdier, T. (2007) 'Aid and trade', *Oxford Review of Economic Policy*, 23(3), pp. 481–507. doi:10.1093/oxrep/grm028.
- Szymanski, M. and Smith, M.E. (2005) 'Coherence and Conditionality in European Foreign Policy: Negotiating the EU-Mexico Global Agreement*', *JCMS: Journal of Common Market Studies*, 43(1), pp. 171–192. doi:10.1111/j.0021-9886.2005.00551.x.
- Tanner, M. (2015) 'Bieber: Attacks on media are part of "a regional pattern of authoritarian temptation", *LSE Blog.* Available at: https://blogs.lse.ac.uk/lsee/2015/01/28/bieber-attackson-media-are-part-of-a-regional-pattern-of-authoritarian-temptation/ (Accessed: 10 July 2022).
- Taylor, A. (2022) 'Kosovo to apply for EU membership by end of 2022', *Euractiv*. Available at: https://www.euractiv.com/section/all/news/kosovo-to-apply-for-eu-membership-by-end-of-2022/ (Accessed: 27 June 2022).
- Thaçi, H. (2017) 'EU enlargement: Tear down mental walls in the Balkans', EURACTIV. Available at: https://www.euractiv.com/section/enlargement/opinion/eu-enlargement-tear-down-mentalwalls-in-the-balkans/ (Accessed: 30 July 2022).
- Tidey, A. (2022) 'Brussels backs Ukraine and Moldova as candidates for EU membership', *Euronews*. Available at: https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2022/06/17/brussels-set-toendorse-ukraine-as-a-candidate-for-eu-membership (Accessed: 18 June 2022).
- Tidey, A., Chadwick, L. and Koutsokosta, E. (2019) "A grave historic error": Juncker hits out as North Macedonia and Albania have EU bids blocked', *Euronews*. Available at: https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2019/10/18/france-denmark-and-netherlands-blockalbania-s-eu-membership-bid (Accessed: 26 July 2022).
- Tomovic, D. (2019) 'Montenegro Court Sentences 13 In "Coup" Case", *Balkan Insight*. Available at: https://balkaninsight.com/2019/05/09/montenegro-court-sentences-13-in-coup-case/ (Accessed: 26 June 2022).
- Trauner, F. (2009) 'From membership conditionality to policy conditionality: EU external governance in South Eastern Europe', *Journal of European Public Policy*, 16(5), pp. 774– 790. doi:10.1080/13501760902983564.

- Tzifakis, N. (2021) The Geopolitics of Pandemic-related Assistance to the Western Balkans.
 Available at:
 www.tika.gov.tr/en/news/president_recep_tayyip_erdogan_honored_the_opening_of_the_mo
 sque at preze castle in albania-19186. (Accessed: 6 July 2022).
- Uvin, P. (1993) "Do as I say, Not as I Do": The Limits of Political Conditionality.', *European Journal of Development Research*, 5(1), p. 63. Available at: https://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=bth&AN=6420369&site=ehost-live.
- Uvin, P. and Biagiotti, I. (1996) 'Global Governance and the New Political Conditionality', *Global Governance*, 2(3), pp. 377–400.
- White, H. and Phillips, D. (2012) Addressing attribution of cause and effect in small n impact evaluations: towards an integrated framework. 15. Available at: https://www.3ieimpact.org/evidence-hub/publications/working-papers/addressing-attributioncause-and-effect-small-n-impact (Accessed: 22 July 2022).
- Wolczuk, K. (2009) 'Implementation without Coordination: The Impact of EU Conditionality on Ukraine under the European Neighbourhood Policy', *Europe-Asia Studies*, 61(2), pp. 187– 211. doi:10.1080/09668130802630839.
- Woods, N. (2003) 'The United States and the international financial institutions: Power and influence within the World Bank and the IMF', Foot, McFarlane and Mastanduno (Eds.), US Hegemony and International Organizations, Oxford, pp. 92–114.
- Wouters, J. and Naert, F. (2001) 'How Effective Is the European Security Architecture? Lessons from Bosnia and Kosovo', *The International and Comparative Law Quarterly*, 50(3), pp. 540–576.
- Wunsch, N. (2017) 'Between indifference and hesitation: France and EU enlargement towards the Balkans', Southeast European and Black Sea Studies, 17(4), pp. 541–554. doi:10.1080/14683857.2017.1390831.
- Zhelyazkova, A. *et al.* (2019) 'European Union Conditionality in the Western Balkans: External Incentives and Europeanisation', in Džankić, J., Keil, S., and Kmezić, M. (eds) *The Europeanisation of the Western Balkans: A Failure of EU Conditionality?* Cham: Springer International Publishing, pp. 15–37. doi:10.1007/978-3-319-91412-1_2.

- Zweers, W. et al. (2020) China and the EU in the Western Balkans: A zero-sum game? The Hague. Available at: https://www.clingendael.org/publication/china-and-eu-western-balkans (Accessed: 18 August 2022).
- Zweers, W. et al. (2022) The EU as a promoter of democracy or 'stabilitocracy' in the Western Balkans? The Hague. Available at: https://www.clingendael.org/sites/default/files/2022-02/the-eu-as-a-promoter-of-democracy-or-stabilitocracy.pdf (Accessed: 10 July 2022).

Annexes

Annex 1: Indexed 2021 Commission assessment reports

									Potential
				Negotiating		Cand	Candidates		Candidates
							North	Bosnia and	
	Cluster		Chapter	Serbia	Montenegro	Albania	Macedonia	Herzegovina	Kosovo
1	The Funda-	2	Judiciary	Some	Moderate	Some/Moderate	Some/Moderate	Some	Early
	mentals of the	3	and funda-						stage/Some
	Accession		mental						
	Process		rights						
		2	Justice,	Some	Moderate	Some/Moderate	Moderate	Some	Early
		4	freedom and						stage/Some
			security						
		5	Public pro-	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Some	Some/Moderate
			curement	ate					
		1	Statistics	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Some
		8		ate					

		3	Financial	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Some
		2	control	ate					
2	Internal Mar-	1	Free move-	Moder-	Moderate	Some/Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Some
	ket		ment of	ate					
			goods						
		2	Freedom of	Moder-	Some	Some	Early stage	Some	Early
			movement	ate					stage/Some
			for workers						
		3	Right to es-	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Early
			tablishment	ate					stage/Some
			and freedom						
			to provide						
			services						
		4	Free move-	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Some
			ment of	ate					
			capital						
		6	Company	Good	Good	Moderate	Good	Some	Some
			law						

		7	Intellectual property law	Good	Good	Some/Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Some
		8	Competition policy	Moder- ate	Moderate	Some/Moderate	Moderate	Some	Early stage/Some
		9	Financial services	Moder- ate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Some/Moder- ate	Early stage/Some
		2 8	Consumer and health protection	Moder- ate	Moderate	Early stage	Moderate	Early stage	Early stage
3	Competitive- ness and in- clusive	1 0	Information society and media	Moder- ate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Some
	growth	1 6	Taxation	Moder- ate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Some	Some
		1 7	Economic and mone- tary policy	Moder- ate	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	

	1	Social Pol-	Moder-	Some	Some	Moderate	Some	Early stage
	9	icy and em- ployment	ate					
	2	Enterprise	Moder-	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Early
	0	and indus-	ate	ate/Good				stage/Some
		trial policy						
	2	Science and	Good	Good	Some	Good	Some	Early stage
	5	research						
	2	Education	Good	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Early stage
	6	and culture						
	2	Customs	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Good	Some	Early
	9	union						stage/Some
4 The Green	1	Transport	Good	Moder-	Some	Moderate	Some	Early
Agenda and	4			ate/Good				stage/Some
sustainable	1	Energy	Moder-	Good	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	Some
connectivity	5		ate					
	2	Trans-Euro-	Moder-	Moder-	Some	Good	Some	Some
	1	pean net-	ate	ate/Good				
		works						

		2	Environ-	Some	Some	Some	Some	Early	Early stage
		7	ment and					stage/Some	
			climate						
			change						
5	Resources,	1	Agriculture	Some	Moderate	Some	Moderate	Early stage	Some
	agriculture	1	and rural						
	and cohesion		develop-						
			ment						
		1	Food safety,	Moder-	Moderate	Some	Good	Some	Some
		2	veterinary	ate					
			and phyto-						
			sanitary pol-						
			icy						
		1	Fisheries	Moder-	Some	Some	Moderate	Early stage	Early stage
		3		ate					
		2	Regional	Moder-	Moderate	Moderate	Moderate	Early stage	
		2	policy and	ate					
			coordina-						
			tion of						

			structural instruments						
		3	Financial	Some	Some	Some	Early stage	Early stage	
		3	and budget-						
			ary provi-						
			sions						
6	External rela-	3	External re-	Moder-	Good	Good	Moderate	Some	Early stage
	tions	0	lations	ate					
		3	Foreign, se-	Moder-	Good	Good	Moderate	Some	
		1	curity and	ate					
			defence pol-						
			icy						
0	Currently not	3	Institutions	Nothing	Nothing to	Nothing to ne-	Nothing to ne-	Nothing to ne-	
	part of a clus-	4		to nego-	negotiate	gotiate	gotiate	gotiate	
	ter			tiate					
		3	Other Is-		Nothing to	Nothing to ne-	Nothing to ne-	Nothing to ne-	
		5	sues/ Nor-		negotiate	gotiate	gotiate	gotiate	
			malisation						
			with Ko-						
			SOVO						

Annex 2: Progression for each WB6 country, subdivided into chapters

Methodology

For the following figures, the numbers on the Y-axis represent the qualification as assessed by the European Commission, as demonstrated in Table 3.

Quantification	Assessment terminology used by the European Commission
0	Totally incompatible
1	Early stage
2	Considerable efforts needed
3	Some level of preparation
4	Further efforts needed
5	Moderately prepared
6	No major difficulties expected
7	Good level of preparation
8	Well prepared/Well advanced

Table 3: A quantification of European Commission assessments.

Note that for all countries data does not exist for 2017. For Serbia, data also does not exist for 2011. Data for Albania starts in 2015, for Kosovo in 2018 and for Bosnia and Herzegovina in 2019. Moreover, if a chapter is assessed between two terminologies, the score will be in between. For instance, if a chapter is assessed to be as both "early stage" and "considerable efforts needed", it would be quantified as 1.5.





31684













Page 68 of 73

31684

North Macedonia









Bosnia and Herzegovina



